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It is a real pleasure to introduce TASC’s annual 
report for the year 2024. We hope that you will 
find the report interesting and informative.

TASC had a good year in 2024, though we 
faced several challenges, not least a shifting 
political context globally. As you will see, 
it was an extremely active year, and the 
range and diversity of our work was truly 
remarkable. 

The impact of our work continues to expand, 
from improved household financial resiliency 
to the genesis and launch of a range of 
initiatives emerging from the People’s 
Transition. Impact is very important for all of 
us because, as our apt title indicates, we are 
committed to being active in the pursuit of 
social change. 

At the same time, the range of our work at 
this particular historical moment has made 
us question whether our focus needs to be 
clearer. TASC aims to highlight the relevance 
of inequality to distrust in democracy and 
thus conducts research and develops public 
education projects that address multiple 
dimensions of inequality and build confidence 
and capacity to engage with policy. 

In this report, you will see examples of 
the work that TASC does in the areas of 
Economic Equality, Social Inclusion, Climate 
Justice, Health, and the enhancement and 
deepening of Democracy. Technology 
increasingly crosses all of our work, especially 
the effects of Artificial Intelligence (AI) on 
working conditions and labour markets and 
the impact of data centres on resources and 
neighbouring communities. 

Much of our work is conducted for other 
non-profits that share our values but lack 
the professional expertise which we bring 
to projects. We only accept commissions 
which are in harmony with our values and 
objectives. We also work with state agencies 
and businesses to enhance social and 
environmental impact and collaboration 
between civil society and government. 

Beyond our research and public education, 
TASC Board members and staff must devote 
close attention to fundraising and governance 
and compliance issues. 

TASC pays for the annual inequality report 
out of core funds, but other projects must be 
funded from other sources. 

It is because of this reality that every person 
involved in the organisation as employees or 
Board and sub-committee members has to 
devote so much of their time seeking financial 
support for our work from organisations 
including trade unions, corporations, 
philanthropic bodies, and individuals with a 
strong affinity with our aims and ambitions.

This year, we are highlighting funding 
issues because, as outlined in TASC’s audit 
summary, we recorded a significant deficit 
in 2024. Several factors contributed to 
this, including staff turnover, which placed 
additional pressure on the remaining team. 
We also made a strategic decision to focus 
on securing multi-year EU and other grants, 
aiming to reduce our dependence on short-
term, low-value funding. These longer-term 
grants are beneficial as they allow us to 
retain staff for the full duration of a project 

Foreword by TASC’s Board Chair 
and Executive Director

6



TASC - Annual Report 2024

and provide a more stable and predictable 
income stream. However, pursuing these 
opportunities required substantial staff time 
and resources, which temporarily reduced 
our capacity to apply for funding that would 
generate immediate income.

Other challenges from 2024 were project 
delays for reasons beyond our control, 
affecting attention to our work and policy 
impact, as well as our income flow, because 
of project payments being pushed out until 
2025. This reliance on project incomes adds to 
our financial pressures and only emphasises 
the need to build up reserves. 

TASC’s independence is an asset for building 
trust but it makes our overall financial 
situation difficult because we can’t rely on one 
single institution for funding stability. 

Our Board and Executive Director (ED) made a 
conscious decision to persevere with our work 
even at the cost of running up a challenging 
deficit. This correct but courageous decision 
could not have been taken if we did not have 
the confidence that the work TASC does will 
resonate with our supporters and will inspire 
them, if at all possible, to respond, even in 
very modest ways, to our funding appeals.

The report itself reflects the shifting political 
context which also influenced our own 
priorities and internal decision-making 
last year. The report now focuses on more 
direct objectives, and thematic focus across 
workstreams and impact. Conscious of 
Ireland’s vulnerability and, inversely, strength, 
as an open economy and democracy, 
we have elected to frame the report in 

terms of local, national, and international 
impact, especially in relation to Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs).

We are enormously proud as Chair of the 
Board of Tasc and the Executive Director to 
present this report. Due to the wonderful work 
and commitment given by our professional 
staff, Board, and Committee members, it is 
a fitting testament to all that was done in 
the pursuit of equality and social change in 
Ireland in 2024.

Mike Jennings 
Board Chair, TASC				  
	

Dr Shana Cohen 
Executive Director, TASC

Mike Jennings

Shana Cohen
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TASC - At  
a Glance

1.

In 2024, TASC continued its track record of 
evidence-backed, community-informed research 
across economic equality, social inclusion, 
democracy, climate justice, and health. At a time 
when far-right and extremist narratives are gaining 
footholds in Ireland and beyond, there is a critical 
need for research that strengthens progressive, 
well-informed public discourse and supports 
inclusive policy solutions.

8
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Guided by its Constitution, TASC works to:

Promote education  
for public benefit

Foster a more inclusive and 
participatory society

Conduct and share research 
that serves the public interest

Using rigorous mixed-method research - 
statistical analysis, surveys, interviews, and 
focus groups - TASC evaluates policies 
and programs affecting vulnerable and 
marginalised groups. These insights shape 
evidence-based recommendations and 
practical interventions for government, civil 
society, and other organisations, ensuring 
research drives real-world impact and 
positive social change.

The Think Tank for Action on Social Change 
(TASC) is an independent think-tank based in 
Dublin, Ireland turning research into action to 
tackle inequality and strengthen democracy.

As a public education charity (CHY 14778), 
TASC focuses on economic and social policy, 
climate justice, and participative, inclusive 
society-building across Ireland and the EU.

1.1 TASC’s 
Core Mission
Vision: A sustainable, 
flourishing society 
characterised by 
economic equality, 
with strong public 
engagement in politics 
and an accountable 
government. 

Mission: To develop 
policies and solutions 
using evidence- based 
research and catalyse 
momentum for 
progressive change. 

Values: We believe 
that greater economic 
equality is unequivocally 
positive for society as 
a whole as it improves 
wellbeing for everyone. 

9
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1.2 Brief History

	• In June 2001, TASC was formally 
incorporated as a not-for-profit limited 
company. The original name for TASC was 
The Foundation for Policy Alternatives. In 
2002, it changed to TASC – the Think Tank 
for Action on Social Change.

	• In 2001, think tanks were few in Ireland 
and orthodox economics was dominant 
in public discourse. Political engagement 
was low, with little debate on progressive 
socio-economic policies. Despite 1990s 
economic growth, inequality persisted, 
highlighting the need for a counter-
narrative. 

	• From the outset, TASC chose 
independence from political parties and 
partisan ties. Its mission was to foster 
informed public debate and challenge 
dominant policy assumptions. In 2003, 
TASC published ‘After the Ball’ by Fintan 
O’Toole, a critical analysis of Irish society.

	• In 2008, Atlantic Philanthropies provided 
TASC with a grant to cover our core costs 
for a five-year period, a grant which was 
renewed for three further terms of three 
years taking the organisation to the end of 
2019. With this funding, TASC was able to 
put in place a more formal structure with 
expert policy staff and much enhanced 
communications, funding, governance, 
and administration.

2001

2008
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	• After Atlantic Philanthropies ceased 
funding in Ireland, TASC deliberately 
moved away from reliance on project-
based funding and began seeking 
core funding opportunities. The first 
year of COVID-19 presented financial 
challenges, including a significant 
loss as the organisation transitioned 
away from its previous funding model. 
However, this period motivated a new 
strategic approach, leveraging stronger 
partnerships in Dublin and beyond to 
sustain and expand TASC’s work.

	• In 2021, TASC hired a dedicated fundraiser, 
which has since allowed the organisation 
to consistently break new ground in 
securing sustainable funding. This 
support has enabled TASC to expand its 
reach through tenders, commissioned 
research, and significant public education 
projects that deliver tangible outcomes 
for communities—from training programs 
to on-the-ground initiatives addressing 
social and economic inequality.

	• In 2024, TASC further grew its reputation 
as a trusted provider of evidence-based 
research and policy advice, continuing its 
commitment to informing public decision-
making, fostering public debate, and 
creating meaningful social change across 
Ireland.

2020

2025

11



TASC - Annual Report 2024

TASC’s Constitution sets its objectives as follows: 

To promote education for the public 
benefit in issues of public policy, 
politics, economics, culture, the 
environment and other related and 
compatible fields so as to encourage a 
more participative and inclusive society.

To promote for the public benefit 
research in any of the foregoing fields 
of education and to publish the useful 
results of such research.

1.3 TASC’s Objectives 
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Economic Inequality: TASC’s work 
on economic equality focuses 
on reducing income and wealth 
disparities and promoting fair 
access to resources. Through 
research and policy analysis, TASC 
examines issues such as poverty, 
social protection, and labour 
market inequalities, providing 
evidence-based recommendations 
to create a more just and inclusive 
economy.

Social Inclusion: In social 
inclusion, TASC seeks to 
ensure that all individuals and 
communities can fully participate 
in society. This work addresses 
barriers related to education, 
housing, employment, and social 
services, aiming to empower 
marginalised groups and foster 
a more equitable and cohesive 
society. TASC’s highly regarded 
Financial Resilience Training (FRT) 
is managed under our social 
inclusion research stream. 

Climate Justice: TASC’s climate 
justice work links environmental 
sustainability with social equity. 
It supports community-led 
transitions to a zero-carbon 
society, ensuring that climate 
action creates opportunities for 
economic development, addresses 
inequality, and builds broad 
public support for environmental 
initiatives. The People’s Transition 
(PT) – one of TASC’s flagship 
projects – is a key component of 
our climate justice work.

1.4 Core Workstreams

Democracy: TASC’s democracy 
work strengthens civic 
participation, transparency, and 
accountability. It explores electoral 
engagement, media influence, and 
public deliberation, supporting 
policies and initiatives that 
enhance citizen involvement and 
counter the rise of extremism.

Health Inequality: The health 
stream focuses on improving 
public health and wellbeing, 
particularly amongst vulnerabilised 
groups. TASC promotes co-
produced, peer-supported 
approaches that empower families 
and service users, while identifying 
gaps and recommending policies 
to make health services more 
accessible and effective.

Technology: Technology plays 
an increasingly important role 
in the state of equality and 
inclusion today. To respond to this 
challenge, TASC is incorporating 
technology research across its 
research streams. This perspective 
emphasises ethical governance, 
worker inclusion, and transparent 
policymaking to ensure that 
technological change benefits 
society without deepening existing 
inequalities.

13



TASC - Annual Report 2024

For TASC’s 5 Year Strategy 2022–2027, we streamlined our 
work into three core priorities to focus our impact more 
clearly:

1.	 Advance Evidence-Based Policy Research

2.	 Strengthen Public Understanding and Impact of Policy

3.	 Deepen Strategic Partnerships and Engagement at a 
Local, National &​ European Level

These priorities build on our earlier approach, where we 
initially identified five areas of strategic focus:

1.	 Conduct and publish research that benefits the public and 
contribute to policy debates.

2.	 Design and deliver public education projects and 
events that generate greater solidarity and a fairer, more 
democratic, and sustainable society.

3.	 Develop progressive policy responses to regional, national, 
and local challenges across Ireland and the EU.

4.	 Partner with other civil society organisations, unions, 
government bodies, and the private sector across Ireland, 
Europe, and globally.

5.	 Continue to diversify raising awareness outside of 
conventional methods.

Through reflection and consultation, we recognised that 
having five priorities risked diluting our focus and making it 
harder to communicate our goals clearly, prompting the shift 
to the three core priorities above.

1.5 Strategic Focus

14
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How TASC’s 2024 
Findings Further 
Refine our Focus:

	• Confirmation that effective 
policymaking is holistic and 
acknowledges how inequalities 
influence each other

	• Marginalisation is sometimes 
being reinforced or exacerbated 
by policy, with implications for 
social and political attitudes 

	• Building Trust in institutions is 
undervalued in policy making 

	• Policy making must become 
more grounded in local voices 
and thus move away from top-
down consultation exercises 
toward more deliberative, 
localised models

	• Gender and ethnicity are still 
underrepresented in policy 
strategies

1.5.1 Key Learnings

15



TASC - Annual Report 2024

TASC’s Work 
and Impact

2.

In 2024, TASC continued its track record of 
evidence-backed, community-informed research 
across economic equality, social inclusion, 
democracy, climate justice, and health. At a time 
when far-right and extremist narratives are gaining 
footholds in Ireland and beyond, there is a critical 
need for research that strengthens progressive, 
well-informed public discourse and supports 
inclusive policy solutions.

16
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2.1 TASC’s Work  
in 2024
For this Annual Report, TASC has adopted a 
fresh approach by presenting its work under 
three overarching themes crossing its five 
research streams:

This structure moves beyond reporting by individual 
workstreams or strategic priorities. It allows us to demonstrate 
more clearly how TASC’s research, public engagement, 
and policy initiatives intersect and reinforce one another. By 
highlighting community-driven action for social change, we 
can show not only how communities are directly affected, but 
also how these changes create ripple effects across wider 
society - illustrating how local action contributes to systemic 
transformation.

Referencing the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) situates TASC’s work within a global framework 
for change. It communicates the broader relevance of 
our research and policy work, showing how local efforts 
contribute to international goals such as reducing inequality, 
strengthening education, and reforming public systems. By 
positioning TASC’s work locally, nationally, and internationally, 
we enhance accountability, attract diverse partnerships, 

Structural Inequality  
&​ Marginalisation

Services &​ Policy –  
Review and Innovation

Community-Led 
Approaches &​ Education

1
2
3
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Highlights of TASC’s  
work in 2024
Highlights from 2024 demonstrate the 
breadth and reach of TASC’s work:

	• Planning for People’s Transition 
Phase III, expanding beyond 
individual community projects to a 
horizontal network for knowledge-
sharing across communities, in 
response to strong demand from 
charities, activists, and institutions.

	• Launching the Annual Inequality 
Report, with a focus on educational 
equality

	• Expanding the Democracy Stream, 
deepening understanding of how 
inequality weakens democratic 
institutions and exploring ways to 
strengthen participatory democracy.

	• Examining how unequal access to 
health and social services, combined 
with experiences of marginalisation, 
undermines Irish society, the 
economy, and democratic resilience.

	• Increasing attention to the 
intersections of inequality, 
democracy, trust, and technology, 
including the social and labour 
impacts of AI and its implications for 
climate justice.

This approach ensures that TASC’s 
work is not only evidence-informed but 
also directly responsive to the needs of 
communities, policy actors, and society 
at large. It underscores our commitment 
to using research, engagement, and 
advocacy to create a fairer, more 
inclusive, and sustainable Ireland.

18
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2.2 Theme 1: Structural 
Inequality &​ Marginalisation
Structural inequality refers to the deep-rooted social, economic, 
and institutional barriers that prevent individuals and groups from 
accessing equal opportunities. TASC’s research this year has shown 
how these disparities are seen across housing, education, health, 
gender, ethnicity, and employment. By highlighting these inequalities, 
amplifying the voices of those most affected, and putting forward 
evidence-based recommendations, this work directly supports TASC’s 
Strategic Priority 1 and pushes for structural solutions.

19
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2.2.1 Research Insights 
on Structural Inequality &​ 
Marginalisation

The State We Are In: TASC Inequality Report 
2024

The 2024 Annual Inequality Report found that while 
the state has had some success at mitigating the 
worst effects of market inequality, problems persist, 
and a significant portion of the population continues 
to experience low living standards and high levels of 
social insecurity.

This report had a special focus on education and 
educational inequality and tackled issues relating 
to income inequality, poverty and deprivation, the 
impact of inequality on families and children, the 
impact of recent interventions to support living 
standards and the risks around the withdrawal of 
these supports. 

Sustainable Development Goals

20
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Still Stuck in the Gap: Pensions Auto-enrolment 
from a gender and care lens

Research highlighted stark gender disparities in 
retirement incomes: women aged 66 and over in 
Ireland earn 44% less than men, with a 35% gap in 
pension income. This gap stems not from lower 
contributions but from lower lifetime earnings due to 
unpaid care work. With auto-enrolment due in 2025, 
there is a risk of deepening these inequalities unless 
Ireland moves toward a universal pension system 
that values all forms of work, particularly unpaid 
care work. Recommendations include universal 
childcare, flexible work policies, and a state pension 
benchmarked to earnings.

Sustainable Development Goals

The Impact of Cost Rental Housing 

Former senior economic policy analyst at TASC, 
Dr Robert Sweeney,  co-authored the report, “The 
impact of cost rental housing on social inclusion and 
wellbeing: affordability, security and community,” 
which is the first major piece of research into cost 
rental housing in Ireland. The research found that 
nearly two-thirds of respondents (63%) value the 
long-term stability of Cost Rental housing, with many 
also attracted by the quality of the homes (60%), the 
essential need for housing (63%), and the affordability 
of rent (51%).

21
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The social and economic impact of Brexit 
across Northern Ireland

Launched at the British Mission to the EU and at the 
Office of the Northern Ireland Executive in Brussels 
in October 2024, this FEPS-commissioned project 
explored the multifaceted impacts of Brexit. Semi-
structured interviews with 19 leaders in politics, 
civil society, and the public sector, alongside 
survey data and literature review, revealed that 
political uncertainty, the suspension of devolved 
government, and the loss of EU funding have 
amplified pressures on services, businesses, 
and communities. Labour shortages, particularly 
in hospitality, education, and health, alongside 
inconsistent rules for migrants, have exacerbated 
challenges. Youth prospects and trust in institutions 
have declined, while identity dynamics have become 
more pronounced. The report calls for a structured 
Northern Ireland–EU relationship under the Windsor 
Framework, replacement of lost funding, targeted 
skills and youth investment, and support for cross-
community initiatives to foster a positive, practical 
vision for the region.

As the report notes, “Northern Ireland has become a 
new boundary between the EU and a non-member 
state,” with a hybrid economic and legal status that 
brings both risks and opportunities. It also cautions 
that “the full impact of Brexit is still unfolding.”

Sustainable Development Goals

Northern Ireland 
has become a new 
boundary between 
the EU and a non-
member state.

THE FUTURE RELATIONSHIP OF 
NORTHERN IRELAND AND THE EU

24th October
10:00-13:30

Belfast

Pedro Silva Pereira
MEP, Vice President
of the European
Parliament and
Member of the EP
EU – UK Delegation

Matthew O’Toole
Leader of the
Opposition in the
Northern Ireland
Assembly and SDLP
MLA for South
Belfast

Kate Nicholl
Alliance MLA for
South Belfast and
former Lord Mayor
of Belfast

“
“
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Health Inequalities –  
Dr Adeelia Goffe

TASC’s ongoing work on structural inequality 
in healthcare focuses on identifying, exposing, 
and addressing the systemic barriers that 
prevent equitable access to health services 
in Ireland. Ireland’s two-tiered healthcare 
system has been shown to exacerbate social 
inequalities and through rigorous research 
and policy analysis, TASC highlights how 
factors such as income, housing, ethnicity, 
age, nationality, gender, disability status, and 
geographic location intersect to create deep-
rooted health disparities. The TASC health-
stream takes a human rights-based approach 
to healthcare, recognising the importance of 
ensuring that everyone, regardless of their 
socio-economic status, can access timely, 
appropriate, and affordable care.

Reflections from work 
published in 2024

1.	 “Our ongoing work in 
addressing structural 
inequalities have 
included examining the 
impact of private-public 
patient pathways, 
the consequences 
of underinvestment 
in community health 
infrastructure, and the 
specific healthcare 
challenges faced 
by marginalised 
groups (for example, 
people experiencing 
homelessness, 
people with mental 
health difficulties 
and immigrants). By 
engaging with the 
public, practitioners, 
and policymakers, 
we work to influence 
structural reform 
and promote a more 
inclusive and just 
healthcare system.

24
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“
Economic Inequality –  
Oisín Gilmore

TASC’s work on economic inequality seeks to 
challenge the disconnect between Ireland’s 
high national income and the lived reality of 
many people who continue to face financial 
hardship. Through research, policy analysis, 
and public engagement, we explore how 
inequality is embedded in Ireland’s economic 
structures, from the labour market to the 
tax and welfare system, and how it affects 
both working households and those outside 
the labour force, including lone parents, 
carers, pensioners, and disabled people. 
We also highlight the limitations of Ireland’s 
current model of economic development 
and the urgent need for increased, planned 
public investment in housing, care, and 
infrastructure. Our aim is to generate 
evidence-based proposals that promote 
a fairer, more sustainable economy where 
everyone can enjoy a decent standard of 
living.

2.	
“By engaging directly 
with policymakers, 
civil society and the 
wider public, we aim 
to shift both public 
debate and political 
will in support of 
policies that reduce 
inequality and 
improve economic 
justice for all.

25
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2.3 Theme 2: Community  
Led Action
TASC identified a major gap in community participation in policy and 
planning, particularly among marginalised groups. While some argue 
engagement slows down progress, TASC views public engagement 
as critical to building confidence in policymaking, strengthening trust 
in institutions, and reducing inequality. By embedding community 
voices and evidence into decision-making, TASC highlights inequality 
as a core policy concern and ensures solutions address real issues 
like economic development and infrastructure.

Community-led approaches place lived experience at the centre 
of research, policy recommendations, and service design. TASC 
uses participatory methods to involve communities in identifying 
challenges, designing solutions, and evaluating outcomes, making 
policy tangible at household and local levels. Case studies from 2024 
showcase real-world impact and community voices, demonstrating 
how local engagement drives meaningful change and advancing 
TASC’s Strategic Priority 2: ensuring its work reflects lived experience 
and meets community needs.

27



TASC - Annual Report 2024

Financial Resilience 
Training for Domestic 
Violence Services

TASC has worked with Irish 
Banking Culture Board (IBCB) for 
several years now on financial 
resilience training, particularly 
in relation to vulnerable groups 
such as victims of domestic 
violence. The project shows 
TASC’s capacity to work with a 
range of stakeholders including 
charities and government and 
business. 

2.3.1 Research Insights on 
Community Led Action

CASE STUDY

Website: www.frtdv.ie

z
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How the Project Came About

The Irish Banking Culture Board (IBCB) has long recognised 
that economic and financial abuse are forms of coercive 
control that create serious barriers for survivors of domestic 
violence. Survivors may struggle to access financial resources, 
education or employment, which can make it harder to leave 
an abusive situation or to rebuild afterwards.

In 2022, IBCB commissioned the Think Tank for Action on 
Social Change (TASC) to develop a pilot programme with Safe 
Ireland and the Money Advice and Budgeting Service (MABS). 
This first phase provided training for frontline key workers 
dealing with victims of domestic violence.  Topics included: 
budgeting, debt management and fraud prevention. Feedback 
highlighted that the initiative gave frontline key workers 
valuable knowledge to support their work with survivors of 
domestic abuse and gender-based violence. 

Building on this experience, IBCB again partnered with TASC 
and Safe Ireland to enhance the programme and deliver 
Providing the Tools for Financial Wellbeing in 2024. 

This second phase placed greater emphasis on interactivity 
and practical application, introducing a Toolkit to guide 
survivor-centred financial conversations and offering a mix of 
in-person and online training sessions.

Working with TASC and Partners

TASC played a central role in designing and delivering the 
programme, ensuring that the content reflected both the 
evidence from Phase I and the needs of frontline services. 
The Toolkit created by TASC provided practical resources 
that frontline key workers could adapt to survivors’ different 
circumstances.

Safe Ireland brought essential expertise from its national 
network, ensuring that the programme was survivor-led and 
trauma-informed. Their leadership in 
engaging the sector was crucial to 
the success of both phases. MABS 
contributed financial knowledge and 
trainer experience during the pilot phase, 
helping frontline key workers to build 
confidence in supporting survivors with 
budgeting and debt management.

Project Title: 
Providing the 
Tools for Financial 
Wellbeing – 
Financial Resilience 
Training for Gender-
Based Violence 
Services

Commissioning 
Organisation: Irish 
Banking Culture 
Board (IBCB)

Partner 
Organisations: IBCB, 
TASC, Safe Ireland, 
Money Advice and 
Budgeting Service, 
MABS, (Phase I)

Date: Phase I 
(October 2022 – 
March 2023); Phase 
II (April – October 
2024); Phase III 
(planned September 
- December 2025)

Locations: Galway, 
Athlone, Cork, 
Dublin, Letterkenny, 
and also delivered 
Online

Focus Area: 
Domestic Violence, 
Financial Wellbeing, 
Staff Training

29



TASC - Annual Report 2024

IBCB member banks, AIB, Bank of Ireland and PTSB, 
also contributed directly to the training, sharing 
practical information on how financial institutions 
can, and do, support survivors of domestic abuse.

The Impact We Achieved 
Together
In 2024, staff from Safe Ireland’s national network 
took part in training across four in-person workshops 
and one online session. The Toolkit, developed 
for this phase, has since been used in a variety of 
service settings.

Participants reported that the survivor-led, trauma-
informed approach made them feel more confident 
supporting service users with financial concerns.

“After this training, I felt more 
confident having these 
conversations with clients.”

~ Direct participant feedback

They also welcomed the opportunity to hear directly 
from banking staff about supports available within 
financial institutions. The Toolkit was described as 
clear and useful, with one participant noting it would 
be helpful for group budgeting sessions in women’s 
refuges.

A roundtable meeting in October 2024, jointly hosted 
by the IBCB and Safe Ireland, created space for 
around 20 domestic violence service providers to 
engage directly with banks, strengthening mutual 
understanding and collaboration.

To date more than 100 frontline key workers have 
been trained. 

A third phase of the initiative launched in September 
2025 with a target to train an additional 70 frontline 
key workers. At the time of writing, 94 frontline key 
workers have already registered, demonstrating 
strong demand for further training.

more than

frontline key workers trained
100
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Importance of Cross-Sector 
Collaboration
One of the core objectives of the IBCB is to listen to 
and act on the feedback from customers and staff, in 
order to improve culture. The IBCB does this through 
their éist surveys and stakeholder engagement, and 
this initiative originated from feedback early during 
the IBCB’s establishment. The IBCB is proud to have 
supported this initiative, which shows the importance 
of transforming analysis into action. By bringing 
together the expertise of TASC, the sector knowledge 
of Safe Ireland, the financial guidance of MABS and 
the commitment of the IBCB’s member banks, the 
programme has strengthened the ability of frontline 
key workers to support survivors of financial abuse.

This collaboration underlines the role that financial 
services can play in addressing the impacts of 
financial abuse in domestic violence, and the 
IBCB looks forward to continuing this work as the 
programme enters its next phase.

Final Thoughts

By bringing together the expertise of TASC, the sector 
knowledge of Safe Ireland, the financial guidance 
of MABS and the commitment of IBCB’s member 
banks, the programme has strengthened the ability of 
frontline staff to support survivors of financial abuse.

This collaboration underlines the role that financial 
services can play in addressing the impacts of 
domestic violence, and IBCB looks forward to 
continuing this work as the programme enters its  
next phase.

Sustainable Development Goals
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The People’s Transition, 
Carndonagh, Co. Donegal

The People’s Transition views 
climate action as an enabler 
of local development. It gives 
people and communities a 
voice in, and ownership of, 
the transition to a zero-carbon 
society. It aims to enhance public 
support for climate action by 
tackling inequality and raising 
standards of living through the 
delivery of climate solutions. 

CASE STUDY

Website:  

www.peoplestransition.ie

z
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Following two successful pilots in Ireland in 2021, the People’s 
Transition Phase II expanded the model to new communities 
across the island of Ireland between 2022- 2025. The 
Carndonagh project began in June 2024, aiming to listen to the 
community’s needs and co-design climate actions that would 
deliver local benefits while addressing broader development 
priorities.

Background

Carndonagh is a large town with rich natural habitats and an 
engaged community. Challenges include higher-than-average 
unemployment, limited local training, and inadequate health 
and social services. National-level environmental policies 
often fail to reflect local priorities, reducing engagement 
in government-led climate initiatives. TASC’s experience in 
community-led just transition initiatives helped identify local 
priorities and link them to climate action.

Mapping and Community 
Engagement
Planning began in February 2024 with Inishowen Development 
Partnership IDP and ECO Carn, a network of local social and 
environmental organisations. A mapping phase used census 
and geographic data to understand the community, followed 
by participatory workshops, focus groups, stakeholder 
interviews, and an online survey. In total, over 200 people 
contributed their views.

Co-Created Solutions

	• Green Skills: This action would build a training and 
apprenticeship programme in key green skills in 
Carndonagh. 

	• Community Food Growing: This would use public and 
common spaces across Carndonagh for community food 
growing as part of an edible neighbourhood approach.

	• Two Rivers’ Project:  Learning from nature and cultural 
heritage is at the centre of this action. This would raise 
awareness on the cultural heritage and biodiversity of 
Carndonagh’s Glenagannon and Donagh rivers and 
developing actions to support their protection. 

Project Title: The 
People’s Transition, 
Carndonagh, Co. 
Donegal

Commissioning 
Organisation: AIB

Partner 
Organisations: 
Inishowen 
Development 
Partnership

Date: June 2024 – 
August 2025

Focus Area: 
Climate Justice, 
Just Transition, 
Community 
Engagement
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1.	 Collected views and opinions from over 
200 people

2.	 Held 4 workshops, 6 focus group 
discussions, 15 interviews and one report 
launch

3.	 Identified 3 actions to support a 
community-led just transition in 
Carndonagh

              

Sustainable Development Goals

Unexpected positive 
outcomes: 
Carndonagh is a Decarbonisation Zone (DZ) 
for Co. Donegal. As the People’s Transition 
project was progressing, the Climate Action 
team from Donegal County Council were 
starting to plan DZ initiatives. IDP, TASC and 
Donegal County Council worked together 
to ensure both processes were part of the 
same framework. As a result, the People’s 
Transition process in Carndonagh has 
enabled the development of tangible place-
based DZ actions that can be pursued by 
the community in partnership with Donegal 
County Council.

The Impact We  
Achieved Together
Together, we achieved outcomes that 
exceeded expectations:
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Background

The Larchville and Lisduggan People’s 
Transition project began in April 2023 and 
ran until June 2024. The intention of the 
project was to listen to and learn from the 
community’s needs and abilities and then 
attempt to design a number of climate 
solutions that would benefit the community 
and address a number of the main local 
development priorities.  

The solutions and pathways forward 
proposed in this report are the development 
of green spaces for mental health by and for 
the community, a repair café and Library of 
Things, and a ‘whole of community’ approach 
to retrofitting.  These specific solutions are 
designed to meet the need for climate action 
whilst also being realistic and beneficial for 
the residents of Larchville and Lisduggan.

Licence of all images belong to the artist, Rebecca Hatchett
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The People’s Transition, 
Larchville and Lisduggan, 
Co. Waterford

The Larchville and Lisduggan 
People’s Transition project began 
in April 2023 and ran until June 
2024. The intention of the project 
was to listen to and learn from the 
community’s needs and abilities 
and then attempt to design a 
number of climate solutions that 
would benefit the community and 
address a number of the main local 
development priorities.  

CASE STUDY

Watch the Video

z
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Background

The Larchville and Lisduggan People’s 
Transition project began in April 2023 and 
ran until June 2024. The intention of the 
project was to listen to and learn from the 
community’s needs and abilities and then 
attempt to design a number of climate 
solutions that would benefit the community 
and address a number of the main local 
development priorities.  

The solutions and pathways forward 
proposed in this report are the development 
of green spaces for mental health by and for 
the community, a repair café and Library of 
Things, and a ‘whole of community’ approach 
to retrofitting.  These specific solutions are 
designed to meet the need for climate action 
whilst also being realistic and beneficial for 
the residents of Larchville and Lisduggan.
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Clare Climate Justice Plan

Embedded climate justice into local 
development frameworks which ensured that 
climate solutions reflected the community 
needs. 

Sustainable Development Goals                     

Traveller Education Change Project

Developed in partnership with the Traveller 
community, this project focused on culturally 
responsive education strategies that promote 
inclusion and equity. 

Sustainable Development Goals

                       

Traveller Youth Mental Health Service

Supported the co-creation of a national 
service model that is culturally appropriate 
and community-led, addressing a critical 
mental health gap among Traveller youth. 

Sustainable Development Goals

                        

Youth Work Ireland (YWI) Tipperary – 
Service Mapping  

Captured the voices of local communities 
to inform more tailored, coordinated 
mental health and social service provision. 
The project revealed the need for better-
resourced, accessible support in high-
deprivation areas. 

Sustainable Development Goals

                                    

South Dublin County Partnership: 
Clondalkin - Social Prescribing Service 
Evaluation: 

This evaluation used local health workers to 
build trust and connect isolated individuals to 
community activities and supports, ensuring 
care is shaped by local voices rather than just 
clinical services. 

Dublin City Community Co-operative 
Healthy Communities Project Social 
Prescribing Evaluation:

This evaluation used local health workers to 
build trust and connect isolated individuals to 
community activities and supports, ensuring 
care is shaped by local voices rather than just 
clinical services. 

Sustainable Development Goals

                            

Key achievements of smaller public education 
projects underway in 2024
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TASC embeds equality  
and community voice across 
sectors, co-creating inclusive 
solutions in climate action, 
education, mental health, 
and community health.

“
“
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2.4 Theme 3: Services & Policy - 
Review and Innovation
Review and Innovation of services and policy are central pillars 
of TASC’s work across the streams of health, social inclusion, 
democracy, and economic inequality research. In a rapidly changing 
social and economic environment, TASC’s researchers evaluate 
public services and policies through a lens of accessibility, inclusion, 
and equality. Our research highlights the need for services that are 
responsive to community needs and capable of addressing structural 
inequalities. 

TASC’s work under this theme seeks to identify where public systems 
fall short – whether in healthcare access, educational equality, 
mental health supports, or the impact of emerging technologies. By 
amplifying the voices of service users and providers, we produce 
evidence-based recommendations for practical reform and 
adaptation. This work directly supports TASC’s Strategic Priority 1 by 
identifying systematic gaps and community needs, informing public 
and policy discourse for more inclusive and effective services.
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2.4.1 Research Insights on 
Services & Policy - Review 
and Innovation

Family Peer Support Work – A Review of Irish &​ 
International Literature:  

A review of Irish and international literature on 
family peer support in mental health and addiction 
– commissioned and funded by the Health Services 
Executive (HSE) Mental Health Engagement and 
Recovery Office – identified co-production and 
standardisation as priorities. Findings showed that 
Family Peer Support Work leads to improvements 
in family empowerment, mental health, self-
care, knowledge of mental health difficulties, and 
satisfaction with services. However, barriers persist, 
such as practical challenges, limited availability, 
and stigma. Family Peer Support Workers highlight 
the complexity of supporting family members while 
also being family members themselves. The report 
provides 12 recommendations to improve access, 
training, integration, and support for Family Peer 
Support Workers, aiming to strengthen outcomes 
for families and enhance the overall mental health 
system. These recommendations will inform the 
development of a Family Peer Support Worker 
Toolkit for HSE mental health services.

Sustainable Development Goals

“

“

Challenges 
include lack of 
clarity surrounding 
their role, 
isolation, lack of 
respect for their 
expertise, and 
the complexities 
of supporting 
family members 
of people with 
mental health 
difficulties while 
also being a 
family member.
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Educators’ Perspectives on the Challenges, 
Successes and Opportunities of Delivering 
Equality of Opportunity in Schools (DEIS)

Our research into DEIS schools underlined their 
pivotal role in addressing deep-rooted social 
inequalities and promoting social mobility. 
Survey results revealed that 62% of DEIS school 
teachers believe the programme has improved 
access to higher education, and 73% report better 
access to further education. Nevertheless, 57% of 
teachers stated that class sizes remain too large 
to provide adequate support and that facilities 
are unacceptable. The report calls for greater 
government investment and policies that support 
educational equality and social inclusion, ensuring 
that DEIS schools can continue to break cycles of 
poverty and inequality.

Sustainable Development Goals

Schools in Ireland, particularly those 
within the DEIS framework, play a 
pivotal role in addressing the deep-
rooted inequalities present in Irish 
society. By supporting students from 
disadvantaged backgrounds and 
providing them with the resources and 
opportunities they might otherwise 
lack, these schools are vital in breaking 
cycles of poverty and inequality.

“

“
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2.4.2 Voices from the community
Across our projects and reports, TASC researchers engaged 
with educators, healthcare professionals, and service 
providers. Their testimonies and insights underscore the 
potential of Ireland’s public services and policies, as well as 
highlighting the persistent barriers that limit them.

“Receiving support from someone who genuinely 
understood what participants were experiencing 
helped them feel more accepted and less isolated 
and judged.” 

 Family Peer Support Work  
– A Review of Irish &​ Interntional Literature

“Schools in Ireland, particularly those within the 
DEIS framework, play a pivotal role in addressing 
the deep-rooted inequalities present in Irish 
society.” 

 - Educators Perspectives on the Challenges,  
Success, and Opportunities of DEIS
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“This research confirms that AI is not just a 
technological development: it is a major 
social and economic shift.” 

- Accounting for Change: The Impact of Artificial Intelligence on 
Workers in Irish Financial Services

“It is of serious concern that most teachers 
believe class sizes are still too large, while the 
fact that 33% of respondents in DEIS schools 
describe science labs and sports facilities as 
being ‘poor’ or ‘very poor’ is unacceptable for a 
country of our resources."

 - Educators Perspectives on the Challenges,  
Success, and Opportunities of DEIS
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2.5 Looking Ahead

Health Stream

Findings from recent TASC Health reports and our ongoing 
work, point to persistent challenges including fragmented 
provision, workforce shortages, and limited access to 
essential supports – particularly in mental health, disability, 
and underage services. Recommendations highlight the 
value of joined-up, placed-based approaches, improved 
local infrastructure, and more adaptable delivery models 
that reflect the realities of people’s lives. In the years to 
come, this theme is expected to evolve through a stronger 
focus on preventing, integration, and responsiveness to 
changing community needs.

Democracy Stream

Our Democracy Stream is exploring ways of developing and 
strengthening Ireland’s democratic institutions; deepening 
participation through deliberative initiatives; and defending 
against emerging threats from far-right, anti-democratic 
movements and actors. Our reports this year have identified 
growing frustration, in particular among workers and 
young people, and highlighted how this is translating into 
a more polarised political landscape and putting greater 
strain on community organisations addressing underlying 
inequalities. As our stream evolves, we are increasingly 
partnering with international collaborators to identify 
innovations and best practices for reducing barriers to 
participation and ensuring a more plural democracy.

Social Inclusion Stream

TASC’s Social Inclusion work highlights how exclusion in 
Ireland is experienced through limited access to decent 
housing, healthcare, secure work, and education, alongside 
barriers to meaningful participation in decision-making. 
Our reports this year emphasised the cumulative effect of 
these inequalities, especially for groups whose needs are 
not fully recognised in current policy frameworks. We have 
shown how services and support too often fail to adapt to 
the realities of people’s lives, leaving many communities 
without adequate resources.

Recommendations have centred on evaluating whether 

Dr Adeelia Goffe,  

Health Stream 

Maria Pachowicz,  

Health Stream

Dr Shana Cohen, Executive 

Director of TASC and 

Democracy Stream 

Tiarnán McDonough
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policies and services are achieving their intended 
outcomes, improving accessibility across housing, health, 
and employment, and reducing the structural barriers that 
reinforce poverty and exclusion. Our research underscores 
the importance of listening to those directly affected, 
ensuring their voices shape solutions.

Looking ahead, this stream will deepen its focus on how 
services can be made more responsive, integrated, and 
equitable. By working closely with communities and 
policymakers, we aim to support practical reforms that not 
only reduce inequality but also foster greater participation 
and resilience across Irish society.

Climate Justice Stream

TASC’s Climate Justice stream has worked closely with the 
communities, enabling them to take the centre stage for 
Just Transition efforts in Ireland. Building on our existing 
research and community engagement work on People’s 
Transition spanning over 11 different communities across 
Ireland and Northern Ireland, this stream will now aim at 
consolidating the communities and their active involvement 
within Just Transition at an all-Island level. 

At the same time, this stream will increase efforts to foray 
and engage with new communities in Ireland and other 
European States that will play the foundational role in 
community led Just Transition and become part of the 
larger envisioned community of communities. Going 
ahead, this stream will also adopt more evolved processes 
to engage communities in tackling the effects of climate 
change and adoption of renewable energy sources, such 
as deliberative and participatory democracy, engaging 
communities and policymakers alike.

Economic Inequality Stream

TASC’s work on economic inequality seeks to challenge the 
disconnect between Ireland’s high national income and the 
lived reality of many people who continue to face financial 
hardship. Through research, policy analysis, and public 
engagement, we explore how inequality is embedded 
in Ireland’s economic structures, from the labour market 
to the tax and welfare system, and how it affects both 
working households and those outside the labour force, 
including lone parents, carers, pensioners, and disabled 
people. We also highlight the limitations of Ireland’s current 

Dr Sara Singleton, Head of 

Public Education and Social 

Inclusion Stream 

Róisín Greaney,  

Climate Justice Stream 

Deirdre Carolan,  

Climate Justice Stream

Dr Dana Guy,  

Public Education and 

Research Officer
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model of economic development and the urgent need 
for increased, planned public investment in housing, care, 
and infrastructure. Our aim is to generate evidence-based 
proposals that promote a fairer, more sustainable economy 
where everyone can enjoy a decent standard of living.

Over the past year, TASC has published its annual flagship 
inequality report, as well as in-depth research on gender 
and pensions, the EU Minimum Wage Directive, and the 
future of the Irish welfare state. Looking ahead, we will 
continue to build on this work through upcoming projects 
on hygiene poverty, commercial-to-residential conversions, 
migrant experiences, and sugar taxation. By engaging 
directly with policymakers, civil society and the wider 
public, we aim to shift both public debate and political will 
in support of policies that reduce inequality and improve 
economic justice for all.

Technology Stream

Technology now cuts across much of TASC’s work, shaping 
our approach to economic inclusion, labour rights, and 
climate justice. The rapid rise of artificial intelligence (AI) 
has created anxiety in sectors such as public service and 
financial services, where workers fear job displacement. 
In response, TASC has called for increased union and 
employee consultation in digital transformation efforts, 
meaningful upskilling opportunities, and transparency 
around the AI systems in use - ensuring workers are not left 
behind.

AI is no longer a distant scientific concept but a force 
affecting education, employment, health care, and climate 
policy. As these technologies evolve, TASC is deepening its 
research to understand their impact on inequality, worker 
protections, and the green transition. By embedding a 
technology lens across our portfolio, we aim to support 
the development of an ethical, responsible technology 
ecosystem that aligns with a just society.

Oisín Gilmore,  

Economic Inequality Stream

Molly Newell,  

Technology Stream 
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	• 23rd of January 2024: “How young people 
facing disadvantage view democracy in 
Europe” 

	• 1st of February 2024: “Modern Methods of 
Construction: barriers and benefits of Irish 
Housing” report launch”  

	• Tuesday 19 March 2024 “Media Literacy for 
Democracy: Online Final Conference”. In this 
project’s final conference, we will presented 
our contribution to defining an effective 
European strategy to promote media 
literacy in the Member States, a set of policy 
recommendations addressed to civil society, 
media workers and local and international 
institutions.

	• 10th of April 2024: DCU - AI and Ethics 
- Panel - AI and the World of Work, with 
reference to Employment, Productivity, 
Education, and Equality  
Link to Document.

2.6 List of Events
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	• 17th of May 2024: Financial Services 
Union Triennial Delegate Conference, 
Panel on the Future of Work

	• 27th  of June 2024: In person launch of 
“The state we are in: Inequality in Ireland 
2024”  

	• 5th of September 2024: Launch for “Civil 
Society Under Duress” online. Report 
Launch: Civil Society Under Duress 
Tickets,

	• 10th of September 2024: Strengthening 
democracy in Ireland workshop 
Link to Linkedin

	• 12th of September 2024: The Impact of 
Cost Rental Housing 
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2.6 List of Events (continued)

	• 24th of September 2024: TASC presented 
on the People’s Transition in Larchville and 
Lisduggan at the OECD Local Development 
Forum  
Link to Linkedin

	• October 2024: Attending collaborative 
research panel on impact of right-wing 
rhetoric on politics in Ireland. 
Link to Linkedin

	• 2nd October 2024 : Roundtable Discussion 
on Financial Coercion Support, organised 
by IBCB in collaboration with Safe Ireland in 
Athlone

	• 23rd of October 2024: Shana spoke at a 
Dail committee meeting on working class 
communities. 
Link to Irish Examiner Article

	• 7th of November 2024: Social Proscribing 
Service Evaluation for Clondalkin report 
launch. 
Link to Linkedin
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At the stunning location of the Irish Architectural Archive, TASC Senior Economist Oisín 
Gilmore launched “Still Stuck in the Gap: Pensions Auto-enrolment from a gender 
and care lens.” This TASC report for the National Women’s Council examines Ireland’s 
proposed auto-enrolment pension scheme, set for 2025, through a gender and 
care lens. While aiming to boost pension coverage and adequacy, the scheme risks 
deepening the gender pension gap by tying future pensions to lifetime earnings—
disadvantaging women who take on unpaid care work. To tackle this, the report 
advocates for a fairer pensions model that values both paid work and care. Key 
recommendations include cultural shifts in caregiving roles, better workplace flexibility, 
universal childcare, and a robust, universal state 
pension benchmarked to average earnings. These 
steps can ensure everyone enjoys financial security 
in retirement, regardless of their care or employment 
history. In the media section you will see coverage of 
this report in RTE and the Irish Independent.

Link to report

	• November 2024: GEMINI geothermal 
launch. 
Link to Linkedin

	• November 2024:  Presentation of the 
“Future of the Irish State” at the Forsa 
conference before they announced their 
general election manifesto. 
Link to Linkedin

	• 5th of December 2024: People’s Transition 
Crumlin launch. 
Link to Blog 

	• 11th of December 2024: Still Stuck in the 
Gap: Pensions Auto-enrolment from a 
gender and care lens
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https://www.linkedin.com/posts/gemini-geothermal-energy-project_geminigeothermalenergyproject-geothermalenergy-ugcPost-7261784734773506050-Y8qB?utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_desktop&rcm=ACoAADdGfRwBs7qi6QmukjEXKms_Lr3SZv8MSrU 
https://www.linkedin.com/posts/tascblogireland_tasc-faejrsa-ireland-activity-7265326055513538560-k9ci?utm_source=share&utm_medium=member_desktop&rcm=ACoAADdGfRwBs7qi6QmukjEXKms_Lr3SZv8MSrU 
https://www.tasc.ie/news/2024/12/13/launching-the-peoples-transition-crumlin/
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Donegal (/regionals/donegal) Change county (/regionals/change-county)

Call for expansion of mental health services in County Donegal amid fears of unit closures

Emma Ryan

Mon 15 Jan 2024 at 02:00

There is a widespread concern in County Donegal about the future of mental health residential units across the county.

It comes following a recent announcement that a number of vital regional Mental Health Support Centres across Donegal in
Stranorlar, Carndonagh and possibly Dungloe, are to be closed.

These units provides residential and outreach services for patients experiencing mental health difficulties.

Aontú Donegal Rep Mary T. Sweeney has expressed her frustration at the plans and said supports for children, youths and adults needs
to be prioritised immediately not centralised.

She said, “Here, in the HSE CHO 1 region which includes Donegal, we have the third highest rate of children and Youth on the CAMHS
waiting list.

"With mental health concerns and suicides on the rise across Ireland, how can the HSE even think about closing down the regional
Supervised Residential Units which also provide much needed local respite care for adults in our communities.

"Dr Finnerty in 2020, when reviewing ‘Mental Health Services for Older People’ reported “a lack of community support, such as home
care packages and respite care, with only 1.2 dedicated acute mental health beds for older people per 100,000, compared with six for
England and nine for Northern Ireland.

"A recent Mental Health report considering Ireland, France and Poland by Think Tank Social Change published in March 2023, clearly
states that 42% of the population of Ireland met diagnostic requirements for at least one mental health disorder and more than one in
ten adults had attempted suicide in 2022.

"The increase in mental health concerns, suicides and suicidal ideation reflects some of the concerns raised to me, by family members
alarmed and upset by the closure of their regional Supervised Residential Units.

Stock image posed by model Mary T Sweeney.

Privacy
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W
e’ve just come through a blizzard
of electioneering, with slogans and
pithy descriptions of the Irish
economy and society bandied
about wholesale. One you will hear

repeated often is that Ireland is a “neo-
liberal” country, governed by an ideology
called “neoliberalism”.

This philosophy advocates wresting
control of the economy from the government
and giving it to the private sector, limiting
government intervention in the economy,
accompanied by lower taxes, free markets,
deregulation and privatisation. Free markets
are at the core of neoliberalism, where the
rich keep their money, safe from taxation,
and where public expenditure on social
services is curtailed.

In this view of a neoliberal world, it is
claimed that Ireland is the Florida of the
north Atlantic. The ideology – originating in

the academic teachings of what is known in
economics as the Austrian school of Hayek
and Von Mises – became particularly influen-
tial in the late 20th century with the likes of
Reagan and Thatcher, during those halcyon
days known as “the end of history”.

Neoliberalism is a good soundbite, but in
the case of Ireland it is almost wholly false.

In complete contrast to free-market
neoliberalism, the Irish economy and our
society rest on a vast interlinked system of
social transfers, safety nets and subsidies
with explicitly higher taxation for those on
higher incomes in order to finance those on
lower incomes. The Irish tax system is
remarkably progressive, not just in the global
context but compared with many European
countries.

This web of taxes and supports could be
described as a modern welfare state, a
complete anathema to neoliberalism.

What is most curious is that this highly
progressive tax and transfer system has been
expanded and maintained by parties which
tend to be dismissed as right wing.

Perplexed? Me too.
Let’s look at the facts: A recent report

from the Parliamentary Budget Office that
received a lot of attention evidences the
extent of redistribution from rich to poor.
The bottom 73 per cent of earners contribute
15 per cent of total income tax. The 20 per
cent who earn above-average incomes
contribute 30 per cent, and the top 7.7 per
cent of earners pay more than half of the total
tax – 54 per cent. This is hardly neoliberal-
ism. The progressive nature of the tax system
was substantiated by the report by left-wing
think tank Tasc, which declared: “Ireland’s
welfare system is already among the most
redistributive when it comes to income – the
State already does a lot of heavy lifting.”

According to the latest annual statistics
report from the Department of Social Protec-
tion, more than 3.3 million citizens are
beneficiaries of social protection payments,
or 65 per cent of the population, encompass-
ing young, old and lots of people at all ages.
More than 2 million people in a population of
under 5 million are in direct receipt of
welfare payments. On top of these 2 million,
1.3 million children receive child benefit.

Last year, ¤24.6 billion was spent on social
protection, about 23 per cent of general
Government expenditure, about 5 per cent
of GDP or 9 per cent of the arguably more
representative modified gross national
income (GNI). Some ¤9.4 billion was spent
on pensions, the majority of which – 70 per
cent – went to the 484,541 recipients of the
contributory State pension. Working Age
Income Supports amounted to ¤3.8 billion,
with ¤1.6 billion of Jobseeker’s Allowance
and a further ¤485 million in Jobseeker’s
Benefit went to 264,439 beneficiaries. This is
an enormous network of supports.

We are often lampooned as not having a
European-style welfare state. So it may come
as a surprise that a 2020 Eurostat working
paper pointed out that Ireland has a signifi-
cantly lower share of residents not receiving
any social transfers (9 per cent) than almost
all other European countries – including the
likes of France (16 per cent), Germany (21 per
cent), Italy (26 per cent), Netherlands (14 per
cent).

In short, more people are getting some

form of State transfer in Ireland than in
almost any other EU country. Almost all of us
are getting something. As a 2020 Economic
and Social Research Institute report notes:
“no other tax system in Europe does more to
reduce household income inequality than
Ireland’s”.

This doesn’t smack of neoliberalism to me.

Theareawhere theneoliberal label ismost
aggressively thrown about is the multination-
al sector. Ireland is seen as an outlier, bend-
ing over backwards to satisfy American
capital. Yet, since January 2024, our mini-
mum corporate tax rate has gone up from 12
to 15 per cent for large companies, affecting
about 1,600 multinational corporations. This
year, corporate tax revenue is projected to
reach ¤24.5 billion, and where will this
money go? It will be spent on social transfers
to poorer people.

One area where Ireland feels highly
unequal is housing and the wealth accumula-
tion associated with an inert asset, property.
We need to build more homes, in the right
places, for more people, at affordable prices.
This means more building.

The key to building more homes is incentiv-
ising building and penalising land hoarding.
This requires a tax to bring land into use or to
penalise leaving land idle or derelict. Such a
levy would be equitable and efficient as it
would encourage development.

An increased tax on an asset like land and
property would be the very opposite of
neoliberalism and should be supported
muscularly by those who claim that Ireland is
a neoliberal fiefdom. Yet when we examine
which parties support property tax, we see
the biggest opponents of neoliberalism are
also, inexplicably, the biggest opponents of a
wealth tax on land and property.

For example, in my area of Dún Laoghaire,
left-wing parties Labour, Sinn Féin and
People Before Profit want to see property
taxes fall, along with Fianna Fáil and Fine
Gael. Only the Greens and Social Democrats
support maintaining property taxes.

When it comes to the most inequitable
form of wealth, asset values, some of the
biggest critics of neoliberalism are the most
neoliberal, yet the society itself is far more of
a welfare state than almost anywhere in the
world, underpinned by a progressive tax
system and generous transfers.

Neoliberalism my eye!

DAVID McWILLIAMS

‘‘

Lastword

’’

Calling Ireland neoliberal is a
good soundbite but it is not true

Ourweboftaxesand
supportsiswhatwecould
describeasamodern
welfarestate,acomplete
anathematoneoliberalism
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AtlanticAviationGroupbuysCoClare
property forstaffaccommodation

Prefabricateddesigns couldplaymajor
role in solvinghousingcrisis, says report

Statecould ‘shoreupdemand’ byusing
newmethods tobuild social homes

CIARAO’BRIEN

Shannon-based Atlantic Avia-
tion Group (AAG) has bought a
vacant property in Co Clare
that it plans to turn into co-liv-
ing accommodation for newly
hired staff.

The aircraft maintenance
company said the move was in
response to to difficulties its
workers have had in finding
housing in the area.

The property, which was
bought by a subsidiary of AAG,

is at the site of the former Ja-
maica Inn hostel, close to the
company’s operations centre
in Shannon Airport. The ac-
commodation includes 36 en
suite bedrooms for employees,
along with shared recreation
areas, livingrooms, kitchens
and gardens.

The co-living space will be of-
fered to new hires to ease the
pressure of finding housing in
the short- to medium-term.
“Employees everywhere are
struggling to find accommoda-

tion and this is our way of assist-
ing our employees to find their
feet as they start into their
roles,” AAG chief executive
Shane O’Neill said. “The ac-
commodation is not intended
as a long-term solution but will
prove invaluable in its role in
giving employees a housing op-
tion when they start.”

AAG currently employs 750
people in Ireland. Owner Pat-
rick Jordan acquired AAG, for-
merly known as Transaero, in
2015. The company subse-
quently acquired the Lufthan-
sa Technik Shannon business
from its German parent Luf-
thansa Technik in 2021, adding
300 staff to its workforce.

“Like all employers, I and
the AAG leadership team have

observed and shared the jour-
ney that our people take to find
suitable housing and accommo-
dation.

‘Highrentlevels’
“In the current market, that
has proved to be a somewhat
frustrating experience, with a
scarcity of accommodation and
high rent levels,” said Mr Jor-
dan.

“In providing rental accom-
modation for our new hires
who need somewhere to live,
we are giving our people the
best possible chance to settle
into their new roles right away
and familiarise themselves
with more long-term housing
options.”

AAG’s move follows the

news that Ryanair had bought
a number of properties at a de-
velopment close to Dublin Air-
port to rent to staff.

The airline confirmed last
week that it had bought 25 new-
ly-built units in Fosterstown,
Swords, to provide affordable
rents for new cabin crew in
Dublin Airport, where it oper-
ates up to 33 aircraft.

EOINBURKE-KENNEDY
EconomicsCorrespondent

The Government should spear-
head the adoption of Modern
Methods of Construction
(MMC) or off-site construction
through its direct build social
housing programme, a new re-
port has recommended.

The study by economic and
social think tank Tasc and the
Chartered Institute of Build-
ing (CIOB) said standardised
and prefabricated design tech-
nologies could play a big role in
solving Ireland’s housing crisis
as well as meeting the State’s
climate objectives as they pro-
duced homes “more quickly
and more sustainably”.

MMC is an umbrella term
for a range of new and innova-
tive construction techniques
but generally refers to con-
struction that takes place in a
factory setting rather than
onsite. Modular housing is the
most common example.

Mainchallenges
One of the main challenges for
the emerging industry is the
sporadic and often volatile na-
ture of demand as illustrated
by a number of high-profile
business collapses in the UK.

Insurance giant Legal &
General was recently forced to
halt production on its loss-mak-
ing modular housing factory
near Leeds after investing
£182 million (¤213 million) in
the business.

Tasc and CIOB’s report high-
lights the “stability of de-
mand” as a key issue, recom-
mending the State, through

the direct building of social
homes, shore up demand.

“Though direct building is
slow and expensive, it has the
advantage that the State ex-
erts control over the design
and construction process,” the
report said.

“This can be used to drive
MMC both to improve the de-
livery of social housing and
also drive the sector forward,”
it said.

The report also recommend-
ed a review of the current
height restrictions on the use
of combustible materials such
as timber. Timber frames are
used in 24-48 per cent of

new-build homes and meet the
MMC definition as they can be
fabricated off-site and are con-
siderably more sustainable
than concrete as timber ab-
sorbs carbon from the atmos-
phere.

The report also supported
the idea of linking taxation on
concrete and other carbon-in-
tensive materials to their “em-
bodied carbon content”.

The high prevalence of
one-off housing in Ireland was
also highlighted as a potential
barrier to the adoption of
MMC here.

Several experts at the
launch cautioned that while
the greater use of MMC could
enhance speed of delivery and
sustainability, the cost bene-
fits were less obvious and had
been perhaps exaggerated.

Supplypotential
The report’s author, Robert
Sweeney, said MMC “may still
make sense if time or quality is
of the essence in a project”.
However, he noted that the en-
hanced supply potential of the
technologies may eventually
result in lower prices for end
users.

Homebuilder Glenveagh
has been investing in MMC
technologies and recently an-
nounced plans for the big tim-
ber frame production plant in
Co Kildare.

The Department of Housing
said recently that MMC tech-
nologies would be used to deliv-
er about 1,800 social homes
over the next two years.

As part of Housing for All up-
date last year, it published a
“road map for increased adop-
tion of modern methods of con-
struction in public housing de-
livery”.

The department believes de-
sign-built modern methods of
construction techniques can
reduce delivery times on typi-
cal social housing projects
from 18 to 12 months, resulting
in significant cost savings.

JOEBRENNAN

Roy Barrett, the former
long-time head of Goodbody
Stockbrokers, has stepped
down as chief executive of
e-commerce entrepreneur
Tommy Kelly’s CastleGate In-
vestment vehicle, which is esti-
mated to have more than ¤500
million of assets.

Mr Barrett (60) originally
agreed to lead a specific project
to set up CastleGate in 2021 and
put structures, investment pro-
cesses and systems in place at
the fledgling family-office in-
vestment firm, according to
sources. The arrangement
came to an end in late Decem-
ber, after Mr Kelly moved to
take a more hands-on role in
scaling back other previous
commitments, they said.

Diversifiedportfolio
CastleGate has been one of the
most active Irish family office in-
vestment vehicles in recent
years, accumulating a diversi-
fied portfolio of shares in public
and privately held companies,
bonds, property, infrastructure
and private equity fund invest-
ments. High-profile assets in-
clude estate agent Sherry
FitzGerald. Mr Kelly is estimat-
ed to have made as much as
¤600 million selling his ecom-
merce company ESW, formerly

eShopWorld, in two stages be-
tween 2017 and 2021 to La
Poste Suisse and the French
company La Poste. Founded by
Mr Kelly in 2010, the group
works with brands across the
world, from Victoria’s Secret to
Nike, to help them localise their
websites for about 200 mar-
kets.

The serial entrepreneur re-
signed as chief executive of
ESW last summer to take on
the role of co-chairman.

“Having stepped down from
his executive role at ESW last
year, Tommy Kelly now splits
his time between his co-chair-
man non-executive post at
ESW and directing CastleGate,
his private family office,” said a
spokesman for the firm.

“Tommy is extremely grate-
ful to Roy Barrett for his sup-
port in expertly leading Castle-
Gate through its establishment
phase and this planned transi-
tion.” Mr Barrett, who had led
Goodbody Stockbrokers for 25
years and exited on the sale of

the firm to AIB in 2021, de-
clined to comment. He also
served as Football Association
of Ireland chairman for almost
four years to last November.

CastleGate holds a global in-
vestment portfolio that is invest-
ed across public and private
markets.Investments that are
in the public domain include
the company’s purchase two
years ago of Sherry FitzGerald,
the biggest estate agent in the
Republic, where Mr Barrett re-
mains chairman, for ¤50 mil-
lion. Sherry FitzGerald re-
vealed yesterday that it is ex-
panding into Northern Ireland
with the acquisition of Bel-
fast-based Simon Brien Resi-
dential.

CastleGate also led a ¤21 mil-
lion funding round by
Irish-headquartered cybersecu-
rity company CWSI and put
¤30 million into a major fund
run by listed venture capital
firm Molten Ventures in 2022.

The vehicle has close to a
4 per cent stake in publicly quot-
ed housebuilder Cairn Homes.
Mr Kelly also built up a 4 per
cent stake in medical technolo-
gy company HealthBeacon,
which ended up filing for exam-
inership in October, and will
see all previous shareholders’
stock cancelled today as its cor-
porate restructuring is complet-
ed.

ELLENO’REGAN

Dublin-based Hunter Media
Group has launched a social me-
dia-focused agency catering to
a growing demand for online
content.

The new Social Content HQ
will work with a team of more
than 70 creators to produce
user-generated content (UGC)
for brands to use on their social
media profiles.

The Hunter Media Group al-
ready operates PR firm Hunter
Communications and influenc-
er talent agency The Collabora-
tions Agency.

Founder Lynn Hunter said
the new agency is the first of its
kind in Ireland but there is a
growing appetite among
brands for content to populate
their social media pages. “Eve-
ry brand needs content more

than ever, and we’re happy to
supply that to them. Not every-
body has the time to create this
content, but we’re going to cre-
ate banks of assets for brands
that they can push out through
social media,” she said.

Reviewsortutorials
In the past UGC was defined as
content about a brand, pro-
duced and shared on social me-
dia by unpaid customers, such
as reviews or tutorials about a
product.

However, as this kind of con-
tent has led to products “going
viral” and boosting sales, and
appears more authentic than
polished material produced by
a brand, companies are now
commissioning content crea-
tors to produce it. Ms Hunter
said brands are increasingly
opting for UGC that they own

and can use, rather than paying
social media influencers to pro-
mote brands and products to
their followers. “We’ve definite-
ly seen a huge uptake in UGC in
the last 18 months through The
Collaborations Agency, I would
say at least 30 per cent [of
companies] are going that way
now. It’s still at its infancy stage
but it’s definitely where the mar-
ket’s going,” she said.

Social Content HQ has six
full-time staff, and Ms Hunter
says they aim to reach turnover
of ¤500,000 within the first six
months of business.“No budget
is too small or too large for us to
be able to get a really good plan
together for a brand, or a store
or small business,” she said.
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toadoptrapid-build,
modularhousing

Influencer ‘juggernaut’
keeps on trucking:
Agenda, page 5

JOEBRENNAN

The board of Ires Reit has re-
ceived a boost from an influ-
ential investor advisory firm
ahead of an extraordinary
general meeting (egm) this
month, where an activist in-
vestor is pushing for a board-
room coup and mandate for
the property company to be
sold or broken up.

Institutional Investor Ser-
vices (ISS), a leading interna-
tional firm that recommends
how large investors should
vote at meetings, urged cli-
ents to vote against all resolu-
tions being put forward by
the rebel 5 per cent share-
holder Canada-based Vision
Capital, ahead of the egm on
February 16th.

Visionresolutions
The Vision resolutions seek
to replace five existing direc-
tors, including chairman De-
clan Moylan and chief execu-
tive Margaret Sweeney with
candidates it is putting for-
ward. They are also looking
for approval to proceed with
a strategic review process
that would result in a sale or
break-up of the company
within the next 24 months.

Vision has secured the
backing of Ires’s founding
and main shareholder, To-
ronto-based Capreit, which
owns 18.7 per cent of the com-
pany. Vision argues that
Ires’s ineffectiveness as a
publicly traded platform has
left it trading for a protracted
period at a discount to the in-
herent value of its portfolio
of 3,734 apartments and
houses.

Ires announced in early
January that it plans to start
its own strategic review later
this month, as it seeks to
ward off the boardroom over-
haul attempt. This review
would include looking at po-
tential mergers, the compa-
ny’s status and the sale of the
company or its assets in lots.

ISS said Ires has “mostly
performed in line with peers
or even outperformed in
some respects” in recent
times. It noted that the Ires’s
total shareholder returns – in-
cluding share price gains and
dividends – had outper-
formed the European peer
median in the three years be-
fore Vision started publicly
agitating for change.

Influential
investor
backs
Iresboard

■ From left: ColmO’Gorman,
Lymar Contracts; Colette
Bullock, HR business partner
AAG; and EdwardManley,
head of production AAG,
viewing the constructionwork
in progress at Sixmilebridge
in Co Clare.
PHOTOGRAPH: EAMON WARD
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MoniveaRoadschemewill comprise102
homes, including28cost-rental units

Buildings toutiliseprefabricatedsteel
modular systemmanufacturedoff-site

The High Court has refused to
strike out a dispute over wheth-
er a clubhouse at Bray Golf
Club in Co Wicklow was built in
compliance with its planning
permission.

Wicklow Co Council brought
the strikeout application in a
case brought by Dwyer Nolan
Developments Ltd over the golf
clubhouse, car park and altera-
tions to an access road at Bal-
lynamuddagh in Bray.

Dwyer Nolan was granted
permission to build the club-
house in 2001 and as part of the
conditions for that permission

it was required to lodge a cash
security of some ¤63,000 to the
council.

In its proceedings, it claims it
is entitled to the return of that
money.

The council has resisted re-
turning it because, it says, it is
not satisfied that a condition of
the permission, regarding the
drainage system, has been met.

The council said it had con-
cerns as flooding has occurred
in the area over the years, al-
though it was not saying the
flooding was caused by the golf
club.

Dwyer Nolan says it is in com-
pliance and has also provided
all the documents and informa-
tion requested by the council.

Dwyer Nolan initiated the
case in 2009 and there were var-
ious court applications over dis-
covery and related matters be-
fore 2020 when the council ap-
plied to strike it out over delay.

The council argued that be-
cause of Dwyer Nolan’s inordi-
nate and inexcusable delay, the
local authority will suffer gener-
al prejudice. The question the
court had to consider was the
balance of justice in allowing

the case to continue.
Dwyer Nolan argued the

council was not prejudiced and
can perfectly meet the case at
the substantive hearing. The
council should have set the case
down for trial in September
2020, it said.

Mr Justice Conleth Bradley
refused a strike out. He was not
satisfied the required causal
connection has been estab-
lished to warrant the dismissal
of the proceedings. He was of
the view that the balance of jus-
tice favoured the case proceed-
ing to trial.

HighCourtrefuses tostrikeoutgolfclubdispute
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EOINBURKE-KENNEDY

Global shares struggled to
climb yesterday after the
chances of early interest rate
cuts globally receded and Chi-
nese markets recorded mod-
est gains on their return from
the lunar new year break.

A holiday for US markets
made for thin trading, and re-
sults from AI star Nvidia on
Wednesday could challenge
the latest surge in tech stocks.
Earnings updates this week
from heavyweight companies,
including HSBC bank and re-
tail giant Walmart were also
hotly anticipated.

MSCI’s broadest index of
world shares was broadly flat.
In Europe, the Euro Stoxx 50
was marginally down.

“The mixed economic data
released lately has put us in a
transition period and we are
waiting for the data to tell a
consistent story,” James Ros-
siter, head of global macro
strategy at TD Securities, said.

DUBLIN
AIB jumped almost 4 per cent
to close at ¤4.21 despite the un-
clear path for inflation and in-
terest rates internationally.
Domestically the lender ap-
pointed Paul Travers to steer a
new strategy which places an
enhanced focus on greening
the bank’s loan book by in-
creasing its funding capability
for significant sustainable in-
frastructure projects. Rival
Bank of Ireland rose by a
more modest 0.8 per cent to
¤8.52 while the Permanent
TSB had a poor session, drop-
ping 6 per cent to ¤1.55.

Food technology and ingre-
dients company Kerry was up
2.7 per cent at ¤78.68 four
days after chief executive Ed-
mond Scanlon said the compa-
ny was open to inquires about
the possible sale of its legacy
Irish dairy business, which has
been in limbo since a 2021 stra-
tegic review.

The co-op, Kerry Group’s
largest shareholder, had been
in discussions with the listed
company about a possible deal
that would see Kerry’s tradi-
tional dairy operation, which
includes brands such as Dairy-

gold, Charleville and Kerry
Low-Low spread, spun out
into a joint venture in which
the co-op would take a 60 per
cent stake but so far the discus-
sions have led nowhere.

EUROPE
The Stoxx Europe 600 was lit-
tle changed following the pre-
vious week’s 1.4 per cent surge
that took the gauge to within
four points of its January 2021
high. Basic resources stocks
led declines after iron ore tum-
bled, while the technology sec-
tor also underperformed. De-
fensive sectors, including tele-
coms and healthcare, posted
gains.

Among individual movers
in Europe, AstraZeneca
climbed more than 3 per cent
after trial data showed its Ta-
grisso drug slowed disease pro-
gression in lung cancer pa-
tients. German arms manufac-
turer Rheinmetall advanced
as much as 4 per cent after an-
nouncing it will open a new
plant in Ukraine. Banco San-
tander rose after kicking off a
share buyback.

LONDON
British equities started the
week on a sombre note as fad-
ing hopes of interest rate cuts
by global central banks
weighed on sentiment, al-
though gains in AstraZeneca
on the US FDA’s approval for
its lung cancer drug capped
losses.

The blue-chip Ftse 100 in-
dex held its ground to close at
7,728.5 yesterday, a gain of
0.2 per cent. The mid-cap
FTSE 250 index was up 0.13
per cent at 19,216.9.

Both indexes snapped a
two-week losing streak last
week amid investors opti-
mism about an early interest
rate cut from the Bank of Eng-
land after domestic economic
data signalled slowing infla-
tion.

However, souring rate cut
prospects globally have dent-
ed the bets, with money mar-
kets now pricing in around 68
basis points cut from the cen-
tral bank this year, compared
with around 72 bps last week.

NEWYORK
US markets were closed for
holidays.

GORDONDEEGAN

The high-end Inis Meáin knit-
wear firm that counts the likes
of Bergdorf Goodman in New
York City as a stockist has “a
huge future” if the business
can continue to grow its online
direct sales to customers, ac-
cording to its founder.

Tarlach de Blacam, found-
ing director of Cniotáil Inis
Meáin Teoranta, made his
comment as he said the busi-
ness last year increased its
overall sales to “about
¤2.5 million”.

Cniotáil Inis Meáin Teoran-
ta is located on the smallest of

the three Aran Islands and em-
ploys 21 people on Inis Meáin.

Mr de Blacam said 2023
was “a record year” for the
company in terms of investing
in its direct-to-customer on-
line sales platform. “I was nev-
er in this for the fast buck; it
has always been about invest-
ing in the future,” he said.

The most recent accounts
show that the company record-
ed pretax profits of ¤332,154
in 2022 – down 19 per cent on
the pretax profits of ¤409,803
for 2021. At the end of Decem-
ber 2022, the company’s accu-
mulated profits totalled
¤737,847.

Mr de Blacam said: “the
business has been growing

nicely over the past six, seven,
eight years. We are a small arti-
san brand selling to top stores
around the world.” He said he
has been surprised by the
firm’s success in online sales.
He said: “I always thought the
fact that our product is high
end, super quality, cashmere
blends that it would be diffi-
cult to sell online because peo-
ple paying that money would
want to feel it, see it but that
seems to have changed.”

Mr de Blacam said that on-
line sales during 2022 and
2023 “would be a big growth
period”.

Redemptionofshares
The new accounts show that
the business paid out
¤634,049 on the redemption
of shares and Mr de Blacam
said this is connected to the
firm purchasing former direc-
tor Seán Mac Reamoinn’s
30 per cent shareholding in
the business.

Mr de Blacam said the share
purchase, which he said was
done on a mutually agreed ba-
sis, brings all the shares back
into the ownership of the de
Blacam family.

He said that he has taken a
back seat in the business in his
role as chairman since the
start of 2023 and that his son
Ruairí and daughter-in-law
Marie-Thérèse now run the
company.

Mr de Blacam said that the
retail price of the firm’s cloth-
ing products range from ¤300
to ¤500 at the lower end and
garments can cost up to
¤1,500 to ¤1,800 for 100 per
cent cashmere.

EOINBURKE-KENNEDY
EconomicsCorrespondent

A pioneering new ¤40 million
social and affordable housing
development earmarked for
Galway city, which will be con-
structed using modern meth-
ods of construction (MMC), has

been announced by approved
housing body Tuath Housing.

The Clai Mór scheme, which
is to be located on Monivea
Road, will comprise 102 homes,
including 28 cost-rental units,
which will be rented to qualify-
ing tenants at sub-market rates.

Under the Government’s

cost-rental tenure model, rents
must be at least 25 per cent be-
low market values.

Tuath Housing said the
scheme, which is being under-
taken in collaboration with Gal-
way City Council, the Housing
Finance Agency (HFA), the
Housing Agency and the De-
partment of Housing would,
take about 18 months to com-
plete and cost ¤40.2 million. Ini-
tial phases of development
would come on stream earlier,
however.

Apart from the 28 cost-rental
units, the development will in-
clude 41 general needs social
housing units and a further 33
units with additional supports.

Significantly the scheme will
also be constructed through
MMC, utilising a prefabricated
steel modular system designed
and manufactured off-site.

MMC is an umbrella term for
a range of new and innovative
construction techniques but
generally refers to construction
that takes place in a factory set-
ting rather than on-site. The
Government has been urged to
spearhead the use of MMC
through its social housing pro-
gramme. Homes constructed
using MMC are typically pro-
duced “more quickly and more
sustainably”.

“This is a very exciting day
for Galway, breaking ground

on the city’s first affordable
cost-rental homes,” Minister
for Housing Darragh O’Brien
said.

“Cost rental is a new form of
tenure in Ireland and it is key to
addressing the affordability
and security challenges faced
by renters. The homes we’re de-
livering are at rates which are a
minimum 25 per cent below lo-
cal market rates and are
long-term secure rentals,” he
said.

Galway city mayor Eddie
Hoare said: “This is a very posi-
tive development that will pro-
vide a further supply of social
homes in Galway city.

A recent study by economic

and social think tank Tasc and
the Chartered Institute of Build-
ing (CIOB) said standardised
and prefabricated MMC tech-
nologies could play a big role in
solving Ireland’s housing crisis
as well as meeting the State’s cli-
mate objectives as they pro-
duced homes “more quickly
and more sustainably”.

Tuath, the State’s largest ap-
proved housing body, has al-
ready delivered 370 cost-rental
homes, with an additional
1,500 homes in the pipeline. Tu-
ath Housing manages more
than 12,600 homes nationwide,
accommodating more than
30,000 people. It currently
manages 275 homes in Galway.

IVANLEVINGSTONand
LAURAONITA

Chinese ecommerce company
JD.com has said it is in the early
stages of considering an offer
for Currys, setting up an unlike-
ly bidding war for a UK electron-
ics retailer long unloved by in-
vestors.

JD.com’s interest comes just
days after Currys rejected an un-
solicited bid from US invest-
ment group Elliott Manage-
ment, saying it significantly un-
dervalued the company.

Elliott’s proposal was

pitched at 62p (72 cents) a
share – a roughly 32 per cent
premium to its closing price on
Friday. Currys’ shares surged
36 per cent to 64p in early trad-
ing yesterday, valuing the
group at just over £700 million
(¤818 million). Currys trades in
the Republic under the Currys
PC World brand.

Currys chief executive Alex
Baldock, who joined in 2018,
has been spearheading a turna-
round of the chain, which sells
TVs , laptops and other electri-
cal goods online and through
815 stores in eight countries.

Analysts at Investec said they
were not surprised that the re-
tailer had attracted interest giv-
en the depressed share price.
They estimated that the retail-
er’s electronics refurbishment
division and its mobile business-
es could be worth more than
£1 billion.

During the pandemic, Cur-
rys closed all 531 Carphone
Warehouse stores it owned in
the UK and Ireland, with the
loss of 2,900 jobs, in an effort to
make its struggling mobile
phone business profitable. The
electronics retailer has a strong

market position in the UK and
the Nordic region. In Novem-
ber it agreed to sell its Greek
business in a £175 million deal
that is expected to strengthen
its balance sheet.

A bid from JD.com would
mark a strategic shift from the
Chinese retailer, which was

founded in 2004 and is now fac-
ing a slowdown in its domestic
market. The company was
linked with a bid for the Ger-
man electronics chains Media-
Markt and Saturn in Novem-
ber.

In a statement yesterday,
JD.com said: “There can be no
certainty that any offer will ulti-
mately be made for Currys, nor
as to the terms on which any of-
fer might be made.” The compa-
ny’s interest was first reported
by the Daily Telegraph.

Elliott, which manages
about $65 billion (¤60 billion)

in assets and invests in public
and private markets, already
has some exposure to the UK
high street through its owner-
ship of bookseller Waterstones.

The hedge fund and private
equity group is known for tak-
ing an activist approach to in-
vesting, engaging in board-
room battles to influence the fu-
ture direction of the companies
in which it has a stake.

Frasers Group, the UK retail-
er founded by Mike Ashley,
owns about 11 per cent of Cur-
rys. – Copyright The Financial
Times Limited 2024

AODHANO’FAOLAIN

The Registrar of Companies
has brought two High Court ac-
tions aimed at quashing District
Court decisions granting com-
panies further time to file their
annual returns.

The registrar, who is respon-
sible for maintaining accurate
and up-to-date company re-
cords, said companies can ask
the District Court for a 28-day
time extension for filing their
annual returns to the Compa-
nies Registration Office (CRO).

Here, the registrar says, two
unrelated firms secured exten-
tions and then second exten-
sions from the District Court.
The registrar alleges the Dis-
trict Court lacks the jurisdiction

to further extend time via sec-
ond orders.

It is alleged Kitchen Innova-
tions Limited successfully ap-
plied to the District Court in Gal-
way for a second time extension
and Greenay Ltd secured such
an order from the Dublin Metro-
politan District Court.

The registrar’s lawyers say
any returns filed by the firms on
foot of those second orders have
not been legally registered.

Represented by Brian Conroy
SC, with John Freeman, the reg-
istrar brought proceedings
against the two companies
aimed at setting aside the orders
granting them second exten-
sions for the same returns peri-
od. Only one order extending
time can be made in respect of a

particular returns period, the
applicant claims.

In its judicial review proceed-
ings against the companies, the
official seeks various orders, in-
cluding one quashing the Dis-
trict Court’s orders extending

time for the two firms to file an-
nual returns for the periods be-
tween 2021 and 2022.

The applicant also wants the
court to declare that any return

provided by the companies on
foot of the District Court orders
is deemed not to have been de-
livered within the periods pro-
vided for in the 2014 Compa-
nies Act.

The applicant further seeks a
declaration that any returns
sent to it by the companies on
foot of the District Court’s or-
ders have not been lawfully reg-
istered and should be removed
from the register of companies.

Both cases came before the
High Court on an ex-parte basis
(only the applicant was repre-
sented) yesterday.

Ms Justice Niamh Hyland
permitted the registrar to bring
the challenges and adjourned
the matter to a date next
month.

Irishcompaniesquoted inLondon

The registrar
alleges the

District Court lacks
the jurisdiction to
further extend time
via second orders

Approximate overall sales at
Cniotáil InisMeáin Teoranta
in 2023

Value of Currys, which trades
in the Republic under the
Currys PCWorld brand

PTSBhaslaunchedanew
marketingcampaignto
promoteitssponsorshipofthe
IrishOlympicandtheParalym-
picteamsfortheParis2024
games.Thecampaignwillrun
acrossTV,print,socialmedia
andbillboardsoverthecoming
monthsandwillfeature
PTSB’s11TeamIrelandbrand
ambassadorsincluding,Kellie
Harrington,DanielWiffen,Rhys
McClenaghan(right),Paul
O’Donovan,NicoleTurnerand
JordanLee.
“Aswemoveclosertothe

games . . .wearesteppingup
activitytofurtherhighlightour
supportofTeamIreland.Our
OlympicandParalympic
heroesaregoingtobehighly
visibleasPTSBambassadors
onTV,printadvertising,social
media,billboardsandacross
our98branchesinevery
communityacrossthecoun-
try,”GerMitchell,chiefhuman
resourcesofficerandcorpo-
ratedevelopmentdirectorat
PTSB,said.
PTSBisthefirsttitlesponsor

topartnerwithboththeIrish
OlympicteamandtheIrish
Paralympicteamduringan
OlympicandParalympiccycle.

Galwaycitymayorwelcomes¤40m
cost-rental,modularhousingscheme

Chineseecommercegroupconsidersoffer forCurrys

RegistrarofCompanieswantscourt
toquashsecondtimefilingextensions

§Stock trades mainly in London - price changes only on Dublin trades.

ESMclosingprices

Price Change
ArkleResources 0.35 0.03
BotswanaDiamonds 0.41 -
ClontarfEnergy 0.03 -0.01
ConroyGold&NatRes 12.50 0.13
EQTEC 2.50 -
FDTechnologies 1302.00 -18.00
GtWestMining 0.06 0.00

Price Change
KarelianDiamond 2.45 -
OriginEnterprises 3.26 -0.14
OvocaBio 0.85 -
PetrelRes 2.45 0.20
PetroneftResources 0.09 -
RoebuckFood 13.50 -
SanLeonEnergy 16.50 1.50

Globalstocks
flatas investors
awaitreports

‘‘

ClothingfirmInisMeáin
reportsrecordyear

DataprovidedbyMORNINGSTAR

¤2.5m

MARKETS DATA

Markets report

¤818m

Lendingsupport
PTSBlaunches
Olympicscampaign

Business News

Dublinclosingpricesmainmarket
12mth 12mth +P/E +Div Mkt Vol

Company CloseChange High Low Ratio Yield Cap Traded

1 1 (1m) (000s)

AIBGroup 4.22 0.16 4.43 3.30 8.48 - 10632 8154.4

BankofIrlGrp 8.52 0.06 10.89 7.73 12.82 - 8939 3508.4

CairnHomes 1.47 -0.01 1.51 0.94-492.67 - 961 915.8

DalataHotel 4.71 -0.02 5.08 3.83 24.96 - 1056 374.8

Datalex 0.55 0.00 0.65 0.45 - - 72.9 15.7

FBD 12.35 -0.15 15.00 10.80 48.08 - 509 141.4

FlutterEntertaiment 181.95 -0.80 192.75 137.80 -2173.95 0.84 32217 -

Glanbia 15.56 -0.05 16.79 11.31 21.82 0.81 4138 432.4

GlenveaghProperties 1.19 -0.02 1.27 0.89 - - 699 524.2

Hostelworld 1.64 0.06 1.74 1.20 164.00 4.60 203 1.02

IrishContin’l 4.60 0.09 4.96 4.19 14.52 2.48 772 2806.3

IrishResPropREIT 1.02 -0.01 1.18 0.87 9.25 3.04 549 6033.6

Kenmare 3.72 0.00 5.70 3.40 -14.05 - 332 14.8

Kerry 78.68 2.06 100.00 71.08 25.37 0.68 13400 1788.3

Kingspan 83.04 1.04 84.36 55.50 57.91 0.33 15013 1398.7

PermanentTSB 1.55 -0.10 2.81 1.53 -2.72 - 900 45.0

Ryanair 20.17 -0.03 20.57 13.64 19.30 - 23025 1452.6

SmurfitKappa 38.38 0.40 39.27 28.98 20.26 1.84 9888 1042.7

Uniphar 2.83 -0.06 3.48 1.98 - - 772 231.7

12mth 12mth +P/E +Div Mkt Vol

Company Close Change High Low Ratio Yield Cap Traded

1 1 (1m) (000s)

DonegalInvestment 16.00 -0.50 19.50 15.70 46.61 0.97 25 -

FDTechnologies 14.20 0.20 22.20 12.70 35.13 1.49 434 36

GreatWesternMining 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.50 - 4 -

GreencoatRenewables 0.85 -0.01 1.14 0.84 - - 968 708

HVIVOPLC 0.30 0.00 0.30 0.16 -26.49 - 216 -

MalinCorp 5.80 0.00 8.38 3.84 -2.74 - 110 0.0

Mincon 0.56 -0.04 1.15 0.50 13.70 3.33 127 254.6

MoltenVentures 2.96 0.16 4.30 2.44 4.01 - 569 12

OriginEnterprises 3.33 0.06 4.45 3.02 7.13 7.39 363 389.9

OvocaBio 0.01 0.00 0.13 0.01 -0.85 - 1 -

Petroneft 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.00 -0.07 - - -

Price Change
Aminex p0.80 -
BankofIrlGrp ¤8.53 0.01
C&C p154.60 1.20
CairnHomes p126.00 -0.60
CRH p6156.00 28.00
DalataHotel p403.00 -17.00
DCC p5760.00 12.00
GlenveaghProperties ¤1.20 -0.05

Price Change
Grafton p989.60 -0.30
Greeencore p104.50 2.00
KainosGroup p1120.00 9.00
Kenmare p318.00 -2.00
Kerry ¤79.00 1.55
SmurfitKappa p3280.00 32.00
Tullow p30.62 -0.20
Uniphar p243.00 -
UnitedOil&Gas p0.43 0.03
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2.8 List of Partners 
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	• 23rd of January 2024 - How young 
people facing disadvantage view 
democracy in Europe.  
Link to Publication

	• 1st of February 2024 - Modern 
Methods of Construction: barriers 
and benefits for Irish housing.  
Link to Publication

	• 4th of June 2024 - The People’s 
Transition - Larchville and 
Lisduggan June 2024.  
Link to Publication

	• 27th of June 2024 - The State We 
Are In: TASC Inequality Report 2024.  
Link to Publication

	• 22nd of July 2024 - Dublin City 
Community Co-operative Healthy 
Communities Project Social 
Prescribing Evaluation.  
Link to Publication

	• 5th of September 2024 - Civil 
Society Under Duress: Assessing 
the Impact of Political, Financial, 
and Governance Pressures on 
CSOs. Link to Publication

2.9 List of all 
Publications
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https://www.tasc.ie/publications/how-young-people-facing-disadvantage-view-democracy-in-europ/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/modern-methods-of-construction-barriers-and-benefits-for-iri/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/the-peoples-transition-larchville-and-lisduggan-june-2024/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/the-state-we-are-in-2024/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/dublin-city-community-co-operative-healthy-communities-proje/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/civil-society-under-duress-assessing-the-impact-of-political/
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/feps_ps_how_young_people_facing_disadvantage_view_democracy_in_europe_digital.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/the_larchville_and_lisduggan_peoples_transition_june_2024-compressed.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/web_coop_sp_report-compressed_1.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/2403-1_tasc_mmc_report-final_1.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/tasc_inequality_report_2024_final.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/civil_society_under_duress_report-compressed_final.pdf
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	• 12th of September 2024 - The 
Impact of Cost Rental Housing,  
Link to Publication

	• 17th of September 2024 - Annual 
Report TASC 2023.  
Link to Publication

	• 15th of October 2024 - The social 
and economic impact of Brexit 
across Northern Ireland.  
Link to Publication 

	• 7th of November 2024 - South 
Dublin County Partnership: 
Clondalkin - Social Prescribing 
Service Evaluation.  
Link to Publication

	• 27th of November 2024 -Family 
Peer Support Work: A Review of 
Irish &​ International Literature.  
Link to Publication

	• 5th of December 2024 - The 
People’s Transition: Crumlin.  
Link to Publication

	• 11th of December 2024 - Still 
Stuck in the Gap: Pensions Auto-
enrolment from a gender and care 
lens.  
Link to Publication
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https://www.tasc.ie/publications/the-impact-of-cost-rental-housing-1/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/annual-report-tasc-2023/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/the-social-and-economic-impact-of-brexit-across-northern-ire/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/south-dublin-county-partnership-clondalkin-social-prescribin/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/family-peer-support-work-a-review-of-irish-international-lit/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/the-peoples-transition-crumlin/
https://www.tasc.ie/publications/still-stuck-in-the-gap-pensions-auto-enrolment-from-a-gender/
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/the_impact_of_cost_rental_housing.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/the-social-and-economic-impact-of-brexit-across-northern-ireland.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/family_peer_support_work_november_2024.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/tasc_still_stuck_in_the_gap_pensions_report_2024_12.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/annual_report_tasc_2023_final_v_120924.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/social_prescribing_clondalkin_tasc_report.pdf
https://www.tasc.ie/assets/files/pdf/peoples_transition_crumlin_1-compressed.pdf
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2.10 TASC 2024 statistics 

REPORTS & BLOGS:

WEBSITE VISITS:

Reports Published

Blogs 
Posted13

2.2k 1.8k 660
+37.5% +18% +261%

13
VIEW BLOGS

visits visits visits

The People’s Transition Financial Resilience 
Training

Financial Resilience 
Training for Domestic 

Violence

on previous year on previous year on previous year

30,000
TASC’s official website

website visits
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SOCIAL MEDIA:

FINANCIAL RESILIENCE TRAINING  STATS:

PEOPLE'S TRANSITION STATS:

LinkedIn followers

491
100

3,072

7Number of communities 
involved in the People’s 
Transition in 2025:

In 2024 we trained an additional 
109 participants, impacting 

individuals and 
their households.

We also 
engaged 
with over
individuals as part of short 
introduction sessions.

In 2024, we trained 
an additional 37 
charity staff bringing 
the total trained 102 
charity staff.
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3.
Governance, 
Structures and 
Management 
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Board of Directors	
Directors/​Trustees	
		

	• Proinsias de Rossa	

	• Mike Jennings (Chair)	

	• Donald Storrie	

	• Micheál Collins	

	• Michelle O’Sullivan	

	• Patricia Curtin-Kelly

	• Jennifer Hughes	  

	• Paul Sweeney	

	• Joe Saunders	

	• Elaine Stephen	

	• Ciaran O’Mara	

	• Keletso Malepe	

	• Bernard Harbor	

	• Mathias Urban

Revenue Number: 
CHY 14778	

Registered Charity Number: 
RCN 20049096	

Registered Company Number:	
342993	

Registered Office:	  
28 Merrion Square North, 
Dublin 2, D02 AW80,	

Independent Auditors:	  
Whelan Dowling E Associates 
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditors, Block 1,  
Unit 1 E 4, Northwood Court, Santry, 
Dublin 9, Ireland	

Bankers:	  
Bank of Ireland, Collinstown Cross, 
Co. Dublin	

Solicitors: 
Ryans Solicitors LLP, 46 Harrington 
St, Saint Kevin’s, Dublin 8	

Legal Name:	  
TASC Europe Studies a Company 
Limited by Guarantee	

3.1 Company Information 
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Mike Jennings	  
Board Chair	

Mike Jennings was General Secretary of the Irish 
Federation of University Teachers (IFUT) from 2007 
to 2017. He is also a former member of the Executive 
Council of the Irish Congress of Trade Unions. 

(Appointed 01.12.2018)	 
(Reappointed 21.01.2022) 2nd Term

Proinsias De Rossa	  
Board Member	

Proinsias De Rossa founding Board member. 
Became chair in 2012. Reappointed to Board in 
03.04. 2013 and again in 21.01.2022. Formerly, MEP for 
Dublin (1989-1992, 1999-2012), Member of the Dáil 
(1982-2002), and Minister for Social Welfare (1994-
1997) when he introduced the first ever National 
Anti-Poverty Strategy in Ireland. Proinsias is also a 
member of the IIEA and the European Movement. 

(Appointed 03.04.2013) 
(Reappointed 21.01.2022) 2nd Term

Joe Saunders	 
Board Member	

Joe Saunders is former CEO of Irish Local 
Development Network. He has spent 35 years 
working in the community sector as frontline worker, 
animator, advocate, trainer, researcher, consultant 
and CEO. 

(Appointed 22.05.2018)	 
(Reappointed 21.01.2022) 2nd Term

3.2 Board Members 
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Patricia Curtin-Kelly	 
Board Member	

Patricia Curtin-Kelly has over thirty year’s experience 
in the development and implementation of labour 
market policies and is committed to equality and 
inclusion. Having worked at a senior executive level 
with the Youth Employment Agency and Solas/​
FAS, she played a pivotal role in the evolvement of 
employment services and programme development 
for unemployed people across Ireland. She holds 
an MSc in Human Resources Development, from 
Sheffield Hallam University, and an MA in Art History, 
from University College Dublin. Currently, she also 
works as a freelance art historian and has had 
several books published in this area. 

(Appointed 05.04.2025) 1st Term

Michelle O’Sullivan	  
Board Member	

Michelle O’Sullivan  is Associate Professor of 
Industrial Relations at the University of Limerick. She 
has also researched precarious work, trade unions, 
employment law, employee voice, and workplace 
bullying. She is co-author of Industrial Relations 
in Ireland (2020), and co-editor of Zero Hours and 
On-call Work in Anglo-Saxon Countries (2019) and 
Are Trade Unions Still Relevant? Union Recognition 
One Hundred Years On (2013). She is Chair of the 
Irish Association for Industrial Relations and is the 
Irish partner with the International Working Party on 
Labour Market Segmentation. 

(Appointed 04.07.2018) 1st Term

65



TASC - Annual Report 2024

Jennifer Hughes	  
Board Member	

Jennifer has worked in the financial services industry 
for fifteen years, currently working with a payment 
services provider. Prior to this, Jennifer worked in 
Retail Banking with the Irish Banking Culture Board 
and Ulster Bank. She also spent over ten years 
working in the IT Sector. She has an MBS in Business 
Practice and an MA in Ethics and is a Fellow of the 
Compliance Institute.

(Appointed 05.04.2025) 1st Term

Paul Sweeney	  
Board Member

Paul Sweeney, former Chief Economist of the Irish 
Congress of Trade Unions, was President of the 
Statistical and Social Enquiry Society of Ireland, a 
member of the National Competitiveness Council of 
Ireland, the National Statistics Board, the ESB, TUAC 
(at OECD) and other bodies. He has written books 
on the Irish economy and on public enterprise, 
including The Celtic Tiger; Ireland’s Economic 
Miracle Explained and Selling Out: Privatisation in 
Ireland, chapters in other books and many articles on 
economics. 

(Appointed 15.11.2018) 1st Term

Ciaran O’Mara	  
Board Member	

Ciaran O’Mara is a well-regarded employment and 
equality lawyer being involved in many major cases 
to Supreme Court and CJEU level throughout his 
career. He has written extensively on the European 
aspects of employment and equality law. He has 
also served as Programme Manager to the Minister 
for Finance in the 1990s. Ciaran is also a member of 
the IIEA. 

(Appointed 01.04.2021)	1st Term
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Keletso Malepe	  
Board Member	

Keletso Malepe is a Senior Sustainability Consultant 
and researcher with over 10 years of experience 
in ESG strategy, responsible business programs, 
biodiversity policy advocacy, and community-
led conservation. She provides guidance and 
implementation support to corporates across diverse 
sectors on ESG strategy and reporting, helping 
organisations embed responsible business practices 
into core operations. Keletso also co-founded 
the South African Youth Biodiversity Network 
(SAYBN), where she leads national biodiversity 
policy engagement, restoration projects, and youth 
capacity-building initiatives. She holds a First-Class 
MSc in Environmental Resource Management from 
University College Dublin and an Honours Degree in 
Geology from the University of the Witwatersrand. 

(Appointed 31.05.2021) 1st Term

Bernard Harbor	  
Board Member	

Bernard Harbor was for many years head of 
communications with Fórsa and IMPACT trade 
unions and has acted as a communications advisor 
to the European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC). 
He is currently an expert advisor on strategic 
communications with Alice PR. He is a Governor 
of the Irish Times Trust CLG, and a member of 
the Irish Artificial Intelligence Advisory Council, 
established in 2024 to provide independent advice 
to the Government on AI policy. He was Director of 
Communications and Media for President Michael 
D Higgins’s 2018 re-election campaign, and was 
a special advisor to Minister for Communications, 
Energy and Natural Resources, Alex White between 
2014 and 2016. He is a life fellow of the Public 
Relations Institute of Ireland.

(Appointed 20.05.2022) 1st Term
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Micháel Collins	  
Board Member	

Micháel Collins is Assistant Professor of Social 
Policy at School of Social Policy, Social Work and 
Social Justice, at University College Dublin. He was 
previously a Senior Economist at the Nevin Economic 
Research Institute (NERI) , as well as a member 
of the Commission on Taxation (2008—2009) and 
the Government Advisory Group on Tax and Social 
Welfare (2011-2014). 

Appointed (28.08.2018)	

Donald Storrie	  
Board member	

Donald Storrie is Chief Researcher at the Dublin 
based EU Agency Eurofound, with coordination 
responsibility for research. Before joining Eurofound 
in 2005 he worked primarily in academia on a wide 
range of issues related to the labour market. 

His publications include research on employment 
contracts, migration, health and active labour 
market and European employment policy. He was 
previously Director of the Centre for European labour 
Market Studies and Research Policy Officer at the 
Ministry of Employment (both in Sweden). He has 
a BSc in Mathematics, a PhD in Economics and is 
Associate Professor of Economics at the University of 
Gothenburg. 

Appointed (28.06.2018)	  
Reappointed (21.01.2022) 2nd term
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Elaine  Stephen	  
Board Member	

Elaine Stephen was a Corporate Responsibility 
Advisor with Business in the Community Ireland from 
2007 to 2019. Prior to that she had a career in IT in the 
public and private sector. She was Director of IBM’s 
Dublin Software Lab and was on the Board of F.I.T. for 
several years. 

Appointed (01.04.2020) 1st Term

Professor Mathias Urban, PHD	  
Board Member

Professor Mathias Urban, PhD, is Desmond Chair of 
Early Childhood Education, and Director of the Early 
Childhood Research Centre (ECRC) at Dublin City 
University. He works internationally on integrated 
early childhood education and care systems, policy 
and governance. His work is oriented towards 
diversity, equality and social justice for young 
children, families and communities in diverse socio-
cultural contexts.

Mathias is a member of the European Commission 
Expert Working Group on Early Childhood Education 
and Care and a member of the Global Advocacy 
Group with the global Right to Education initiative.

He is the lead author of the Early Childhood 
Development, Education and Care policy briefs 
for the T20/G20 presidencies 2018 (Argentina), 
2019 (Japan), 2020 (Saudi Arabia), 2021 (Italy), 2022 
(Indonesia), 2024 (Brazil), and 20205 (South Africa).

Appointed (29.09.2023)
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3.3 Board 
Composition 
The Board of Directors is required to meet 
at a minimum six times a year, which it did 
in 2024. The Executive Director prepares a 
report for each Board meeting, which reports 
on outcomes and activities against the 
operational plan.

The Executive Director with the assistance 
of the Finance and Risk Committee also 
prepares a financial report for each Board 
meeting, which is reviewed and approved at a 
meeting of the Finance E Risk Committee.

Minutes of the Board are drafted and 
reviewed by the Chairperson and approved 
as the first order of business at the following 
Board meeting. The Executive Director and 
Chair monitor and maintain an attendance 
record of Board members which are recorded 
in the meeting minutes.

The principal issues the Board focused on 
in 2024 were governance, or compliance 
with charity regulations, and fundraising. The 
Board continues to prioritise these two issues, 
as well as ensuring inclusion and diversity on 
the Board itself.

TASC’s Board of Directors should not exceed 
12 (including the Chairperson). All Directors 
sit on the Board on a voluntary basis, 
receiving no remuneration for their time 
and contribution. The Board is made up of 
individuals with experience in law, finance, 
public affairs, marketing, economics and 
inequality.

A review of the Board Effectiveness took 
place in September by an external consultant, 
Liam Scollan.

The TASC Board Effectiveness Report 

outlined 22 recommendations across various 
aspects of Board dynamics, structure, 
strategic planning, operations performance, 
and compliance.

Key suggestions included:

A review of meeting agendas to prioritise 
policy research and advocacy, clear 
differentiation between informational and 
decision-making items, and a mix of virtual 
and in-person meetings for improved team- 
building.

Subcommittees should meet regularly 
with clear terms of reference, and quarterly 
management accounts should be presented 
with a conservative financial outlook.

The strategic plan should be costed, and 
Board meetings should focus on progress 
evaluation. Stakeholder mapping is 
recommended, along with a consideration for 
a TASC alumni role.

Operations should have a sustainable 
business model, key operational targets, and 
resources aligned with strategy. Compliance 
measures include a Directors Handbook and 
familiarity with the Compliance Tracker.

The Board Competency Report added 
three more recommendations, advocating 
for continuous professional development, 
addressing representational gaps, 
and exploring ways to enhance Board 
engagement in TASC policy matters.

Facilitating training sessions for Board 
Directors was suggested, emphasising 
competencies in various areas, and efforts 
to diversify Board representation are 
encouraged, avoiding tokenism.

Finally, exploring ways for increased Board 
engagement in policy matters was proposed, 
recognising the importance of maintaining a 
separation between Board and executive roles.

70



TASC - Annual Report 2024

The CRA CRS (Compliance Registration 
Submission) was lodged in time for the 
October deadline and Joe Saunders 
continued to oversee the submission as 
chair of the Governance and Compliance 
Subcommittee. TASC continued to use its 
compliance and risk management software 
Salesforce streamlining the process and 
outputting clear compliance reports to 
distribute to the TASC Board.

It is anticipated that full governance 
compliance will be achieved again in 2024

3.4 Decision 
Making 
The TASC Board has full responsibility 
for the governance and finances of the 
organisation. The Board has several matters 
that are specifically reserved for its decision 
including strategic plans, annual operational 
plan, annual budgets, approval of all 
policies, approval of new staff appointments, 
performance review of the Executive Director, 
approval of members, approval of annual 
reports/​accounts, procurement contracts 
above €10,000 and all governance issues 
including the composition of sub-committees.

The Board delegates day to day management 
of the business and its operations including 
all staff matters to the ED. At each Board 
Meeting, the ED report gives an overview 
of finances, operations, HR and staffing, 
fundraising, services and strategy 
implementation. The Board monitors the ED 
and the organisation’s progress against its 
annual operational plan, provides feedback 
and direction to the ED as the need arises. 
The Board, represented by the Chairperson, 
will support the ED in delivering on all aspects 
of these duties and if necessary, can establish 
sub committees to assist in or oversee 
specific tasks.

All spending for goods or services in excess of 
€10,000 must be referred to the Finance and 
Risk subcommittee for approval prior to the 
expenditure being incurred.
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3.5 TASC Sub 
Committees
Finance and Risk 
committee 
The Finance and Risk Committee consists of 
4 members including the Chair and the ED, 
TASC Accountant Angela Maguire alongside 
Ciaran O’Mara.

The Finance and Risk Committee plays a 
vital role in assisting the Board in fulfilling 
its responsibilities concerning the financial 
statements of the company as outlined in the 
Companies Act 2014 and Charities Act 2009.

The committee’s duties encompass several 
key areas. In financial management, they 
review the adequacy of financial procedures 
and internal controls while ensuring the 
company maintains proper accounting 
records. They also prepare and present an 
annual budget to the Board for approval, 
monitor income and expenditure against 
the budget on a quarterly basis, and 
oversee the management of the company’s 
cash resources. The committee’s duties 
encompass several key areas. In financial 
management, they review the adequacy of 
financial procedures and internal controls 
while ensuring the company maintains proper 
accounting records. They also prepare and 
present an annual budget to the Board for 
approval, monitor income and expenditure 
against the budget on a quarterly basis, and 
oversee the management of the company’s 
cash resources.

Regarding risk management, the committee 
assesses the company’s long-term financing 
and potential risks, recommending improved 
controls as necessary. They also focus on 
compliance with corporate governance best 
practices for charities in line with the Charity 

Regulators Governance Code.

Furthermore, the committee is involved 
in the appointment, review, and removal 
of external auditors. They meet with the 
auditors to review the annual financial 
statements, ensuring compliance with 
accounting standards, assessing significant 
audit differences, and verifying adherence 
to legal requirements. Reporting procedures 
include regular reports to the Board and the 
preparation of an annual report on audited 
financial statements, which includes a review 
of director’s responsibilities and the director’s 
report.

Research and Policy 
Committee
The Research and Policy Committee 
consists of 9 members including Chair and 
the ED. 2024 members included Ciaran 
O’Mara, Donald Storrie, Keletso Malepe, 
Maeve O’Sullivan, Micheál Collins, Michelle 
O’Sullivan, Mike Jennings, Paul Sweeney and 
the ED Shana Cohen. Mathias Urban became 
the new chair of the committee in 2024 taking 
over from Micheál Collins. 

The RPC committee’s primary responsibilities 
are to recommend TASC’s annual research 
and policy program for Board adoption 
and to approve and maintain the program’s 
schedule. They also assist the ED in 
developing new project ideas and reviewing 
proposals for the program. The committee 
reviews and approves ethical reviews 
conducted by TASC staff and receives 
updates on research launches and policy 
engagements. The committee ensures that 
all final outputs are technically reviewed and 
incorporates feedback from reviewers into the 
documents.

Additionally, they make sure that all final 
output aligns with TASC’s mission by having 
at least one nominated member review it. 
Overall, the committee plays a crucial role in 
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TASC by planning, coordinating, and 
implementing fundraising activities. The 
committee’s objectives include advising the 
Board on fundraising matters, developing 
a fundraising strategy, and monitoring its 
implementation. They maintain a list of 
donors and potential funders, take the lead in 
certain fundraising actions, and assist Board 
members in engaging with sponsors and 
building relationships.

The sub-committee also reviews upcoming 
application rounds for suitability. By fulfilling 
these responsibilities, they play a crucial 
role in securing financial resources and 
partnerships to support TASC’s programs, 
projects, and overall organisational activities.

3.6 Key Policies 
of the Company 
Conflicts of Interest 

TASC has a Conflicts of Interest Policy. The 
Board of Directors are required to complete 
a conflicts of interest declaration when 
taking up their position on the Board. At the 
beginning of each Board meeting, members 
have the opportunity to disclose any conflicts 
of interest which may arise before any agenda 
items are considered by the Board and if any 
events have arisen which may impact their 
independence and/​or loyalty.

Any instances which may arise are recorded in 
the minutes. All Board members are reminded 
that they must update the Company 
Secretary on any changes in this regard. TASC 
conflicts of interest policy was reviewed in 
May 2024.

Risk Management

TASC uses its Risk Register to monitor 
and mitigate controls arising from the risk 

shaping TASC’s research and policy agenda, 
monitoring progress, and ensuring the quality 
and consistency of the organisation’s work. 

Governance and 
Compliance Committee
The Governance and Compliance Committee 
consists of 6 members, including the Chair 
and the ED. 2024 members included an 
Ciaran O’Mara, Joe Saunders, Mike Jennings, 
Jennifer Hughes, Proinsias de Rossa and the 
ED.  Joe Saunders became the new chair of 
the committee in 2024, taking over from Brid 
Nolan, who stepped down in 2023.

The principal objective of the Governance 
Committee is to objective of the Governance 
Committee is to ensure good governance 
and, in particular, to monitor adherence 
to best practice in this area. This includes 
adherence to the CRA’s Governance Code 
and other relevant guidelines. The Committee 
is also responsible for the induction 
programme for Board appointees.

The Governance Committee is tasked with 
performing an annual review to encompass 
the following: an appraisal of the Board; 
the performance of the Chairperson; the 
Committees’ performance, size, membership; 
and the adequacy of information provided 
for Board meetings. This may include the 
completion of a Board Skills Assessment 
Matrix, to be reported to the Board as 
required.

Fundraising Committee 

The Fundraising Committee consists of 
6 members, including the Chair, ED and 
Fundraising and Development Manager. 
Members in 2024 included Mike Jennings, 
Bernard Harbor and Proinsias de Rossa. 
Patricia Curtin-Kelly joined the committee in 
2024.

The Fundraising sub-committee supports 
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across the full range of its activities. All 
legal, financial, strategic, operational and 
reputational risk are reviewed by the Board 
on a bi-monthly basis. The Risk Register is 
examined by the Finance and Risk Committee 
at each meeting with a particular focus on any 
new risks or increases in the likelihood of a 
risk occurring.

The Board are updated at each meeting 
on proposed changes to the Risk Register 
and any updates to internal procedures and 
policies which will need to be introduced in 
order to reduce or mitigate new or existing 
risks. In October 2023 the TASC Risk Register 
was reviewed, updated and adopted by the 
Board.

On joining TASC and prior to carrying out 
activities on its behalf, all staff members are 
afforded time to read the organisation’s key 
policies and procedures which sets out the 
rights, responsibilities and conduct required 
of employees and of the organisation. All 
employees are required to sign a Code of 
Conduct Declaration acknowledging they 
have read and understood the organisation’s 
policies and procedures.

TASC uses an external lawyer to ensure 
it remains compliant with employment 
legislation and ensure remuneration and 
benefits are benchmarked against industry 
standard. A consultant was also hired to 
review salaries.

Reserves Policy 

TASC has a Board approved reserves policy 
as part of its good governance requirements 
and also to ensure strong financial controls 
and the internal management of its resources. 
TASC’s reserves policy stipulates that the 
organisation must hold a minimum of 
€230,000 or if greater an amount sufficient to 
discharge all obligations of the organisation, 
including proper and reasonable provision for 
staff, in the event of a winding up. In the event 

that this minimum cash position is likely to 
be breached, the Board will be convened at 
an earlier date and will consider its response 
to the financial situation, with a view to 
appropriate actions, and the situation will be 
kept under review by the Board until rectified.

Investment Policy 

TASC does not hold any fixed or cash assets 
for the purposes of investing, therefore the 
organisation does not have an Investment 
Policy.

Governance Code 
Compliance 
TASC are in compliance with the Charities 
Regulators Governance Code and completed 
our annual return in October 2024. TASC 
conducts an annual self-assessment against 
the Code, reviewing and updating its policies 
accordingly.

3.7 Board 
Recruitment 
and Induction 
TASC has a comprehensive recruitment and 
induction plan for all new Directors as set out 
in the TASC Governance Manual.

There are two Board categories: 

1. Member elected Board members which 
are recruited by way of nomination from all 
governing members and democratically 
elected at a Board meeting.

2. Expert Board members which are recruited 
using other networks, such as The Wheel and 
Activelink, selecting candidates based on 
their skill set, experience and competencies. 
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Prior to initiating the recruitment process the 
Chairperson will instigate an audit for the 
Board Directorship, with a view to ensuring 
that the Board meets the following good 
practice guidelines:

A. The Board has at least one member with 
relevant financial experience;

B. The Board has an appropriate mix of 
experience including both sectoral and 
corporate, and;

C. The Board has an appropriate gender 
balance.

New Directors attend an induction meeting 
with the ED and the Chairperson of the Board 
prior to attending their first Board meeting 
and receive coaching on the activities of 
TASC; its aims, history and success.

Prior to this meeting new Directors will 
receive; a copy of the TASC Governance 
Manual; the organisation’s Strategic and 
Operational Plan; minutes of the previous 
six Board meetings; a copy of the financial 
procedures and policies manual, and a copy 
of TASC’s Constitution.

Upon joining the Board, new Directors must 
sign a Code of Conduct and Declaration of 
Interests acknowledgement form in respect 
of their role and responsibilities as TASC 
Board members.

On an annual basis Board members are 
afforded the opportunity and encouraged 
to undertake training and development in 
support of their role as Board members 
to learn new skills and maintain and grow 
their specific areas of expertise. A calendar 
of training dates is circulated at the first 
Board meeting of the year, and each Board 
member carries out a self-assessment of 
their individual needs. Much of this training is 
offered by The Wheel.

3.8 Staff 
Movements in 
2024
The average number of TASC employees 
in 2024 was 10, and we also regularly have 
several paid Internships. TASC did not have 
any volunteers in 2024.  We also regularly 
had paid internships from third-level students 
studying in Ireland, Europe and the US.

3.9 Performance 
Management 
One week prior to each Board meeting, 
the Board of Directors receive an e-pack 
which includes the agenda and supporting 
documents which will be up for discussion, 
which allows the Directors to adequately 
prepare. They also engage in a Board 
performance review annually which assists in 
identifying specific development needs of the 
Board for the forthcoming year.

TASC is committed to providing the right 
conditions and support for everyone to achieve 
excellent performance and to achieve their 
full potential. On an annual basis TASC’s ED 
and the Board of Directors agree to allocate a 
budget for training and development activities.

All staff members take part in the organisation 
performance management process. In order 
to ensure staff members can perform their 
roles to the highest of standards, TASC’s ED 
and senior staff carry out regular discussions 
with members of their team about their 
development needs and aspirations. This 
includes ensuring that reviews are scheduled 
throughout the year to monitor an individual’s 
progress against individual and organisational 
objectives set and jointly evaluating future 
training and development needs, with both 
parties taking the initiative.
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4.
Financial 
Review  
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4.1 Financial Outcome

The financial outcome for 2024 is set out 
in the statement of financial activities and 
balance sheet from page 78 below.

The final outcome for the year was a deficit 
of expenditure over income of €104,480. 
2024 was a challenging year in relation to 
fundraising. The pursuit of more long-term 
funding possibilities limited our capacity, on 
top of staff turnover and reduced fundraising 
support, to pursue short shorter-term 
projects.

Income in 2024 was €796,584, which was 
a 5% decrease from 2023. Income from 
donations was €92,038, a 41% decrease 
on 202,3 and project activity income was 
€704,351, a 3% increase on 2023. 

Expenditure totalled €901,064 an increase of 
3% on 2023. Staff related costs accounted for 
70% (2023 - 68%) of total costs.

In 2022, TASC was awarded core funding from 
the Department of Rural and Community 
Development’s (DRCD) Scheme to Support 
National Organisation (SSNO) as administered 
by Pobal. This multi-year funding, which 
runs for three consecutive years out to 2025, 
is granted to organisations aligned with 
the DRCD’s mission statement: To promote 
rural and community development and to 
support vibrant, inclusive and sustainable 
communities throughout Ireland. The funding, 
valued at €86,490 in 2024, contributed 
towards part of the Executive Director’s and 
Office Administrator’s salaries.

On 31st December 2024, TASC had 
unrestricted reserves of €512,816 (2023 
€617,296). This is represented by cash 
reserves held in bank accounts and amounts 
owed to TASC of €671,924 (2023 €832,704), 
less creditors of €83,778 (2023 €65,408) and 
deferred income of €75,000 (2023 €150,000).

4.2 Funders, income 
sources and sustainability
In 2024, TASC commenced its work on the Eu 
Commission’s PeacePlus funded project titled 
‘Gemini’. Long-term projects are essential to 
the sustainability of our organisation, with EU-
funded initiatives playing a particularly critical 
role in ensuring financial stability and strategic 
impact.

TASC secured its second project with 
The Department of Rural and Community 
Development (DRCD) focused on Volunter 
Centre Evaluation. Securing this second 
project with the DRCD demonstrates a strong 
endorsement of the success and impact of 
the project delivered the previous year.

TASC expanded its collaboration with other 
nonprofits, including The Teachers’ Union of 
Ireland, Financial Services Union, Friends of 
the Elderly and the Irish Prison Reform trust. 
This collaboration highlights our expanding 
role in strengthening public and charitable 
services, as well as supporting meaningful 
policy reform.

Aligned with our goal of shaping policies 
and practical solutions that drive progressive 
change, we actively sought partnerships 
across a diverse range of stakeholders. 
For example, we received funding from 
Community Foundation Ireland to support 
our democracy work; Friedrich Eibert 
Stiftung; and Hospital Saturday Fund. We 
also continued our work collaborating with 
local development companies, partnering 
with both Clare Local Development Company 
and South Dublin County Partnership. These 
projects reflect the breath of TASC’s project 
work, while continuing to diversify income 
streams.
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TASC Europe Studies CLG

DIRECTORS' ANNUAL REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

The directors present their Directors' Annual Report, combining the Directors' Report and Trustees' Report, and the
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014, FRS 102 "The Financial

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" and Accounting and Reporting by Charitles:adReigdit
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their financial statements in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and (FRS 102).

The Directors' Report contains the information requiredrequired toto bebe provided in the Directors' Annual Report under the
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) guidelines. The directors of the charity are also charity trustees for the
Statementendundar the chaveconstitution are koown as members of the board of tristees
purpose of charity law and under the charity's constitution are known as members of the board of trustees.

In this report the directors of TASC Europe Studies CLG present a summary of its purpose, governance, activities,
achlevements and finances for the financial vear 2024achievements and finances for the financlal year 2024.

The charity is a registered charity and hence the report and results are presented in  a form which complies with the

requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, aitnough not obinged to comply wi the ste ite
reguirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, although not obliged to comply with the Statement of Recommended

Practice applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland FRS 102, the organisation has implemented its
recommendations where relevant in these financial statements.recommendations where relevant in these financial statements.

The charity is limited by guarantee not having a share capital.

Principal Activity

The principal activity isthe promotion of education for the public benefit in issues of public policy, politics, economics,
culture, the environment and other related and compatible fields, so as to encourage a more participative and
inclusive sciet
inclusive society.

To promote for the public benefit research in any of the foregoing fields of education and to publish the useful results
of such research.

Mission, Objectives and Strategy

Mission Statement

The Directors, who are also the trustees for the purposes of charity law, present their annual report and audited
financial statements of the company for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

The company is a registered charity and the report and statements are presented in a form which complies with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and FRS102. The organisation is applying SORP as best practice. Thes of the comnanies Act 2014 and FRS102. The organisation is applving SORP as best practice. The

main activities of the organisation are charitable.

Our Vision
A sustainable, flourishing society

table govemment
an accountable government.

Our Mission

characterised by economic equality, with strong public engagement in polltics and

To develop policies and solutions using evidence-based researchresearch andand analysis on economic inequality. To works

nationally and internationally, in partnership with other organisations, to catalyse momentum for progressive change,
especially for those marginalised from both political decision-making and economic opportunity.

OurOur Values

We believe that greater economic equality is unequivocally positive for society as a whole; as it improves wellbeing for
everyone.

Objectives

Since it was founded in May 2001, TASC, the Think tank for Action on Social Change, has been dedicated to

championing the value of equality, human rights, democratic accountability and sustainability.

TASC's work currently addresses five critical areas for a flourishing society:

Economic Inequality
Social inciusionSocial Inclusion

• Climate Justice

• Health Inegualities

• and Democracy.

In 2024, we increasingly integrated I technology across all five streams as a response to demand from trade unions

and the reality that use of Al and digital technologies is affecting job creation and loss, trust in politics and public
4
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DIRECTORS' ANNUAL REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024
institutions, and access to information more broadly, with its negative and positive consequences.

Our work consists of four principal activitles:

• conducting policy analysis
⚫ initiating and contributing to public awareness and understanding of policynub
engaging with policymaking and policy makers

⚫ and supporting social change and climate justice within communities

TASC's strategic priorities for 2022 - 2027 have been as follows, though they may change with the mid-term review of

the strategy in 2025:

• Conduct and publish research that benefits the public and contributes to policy debates.eatersolidarity and
• Design and deliver public education projects and events that generate greater solidarity and a fairer, more

democratic and sustainable socletydemocratic and sustainable soclety.

. Develop progressive policy responses to regional, national, and local challenges across Ireland and the EU.
• Partner with other civll society organisations, unions, govemment bodies, and the private sector across Ireland,

Europe and globallyEurope and globally.

• Continue to diversify raising awareness outside of conventional methods.

Structure, Governance and Management

Governing document
The Company is a company limited by guarantee, registered under Part 18 of the Companies Act 2014. The company
does not have a share capital and consequently the liability of members is limited, subject to an undertaking by each
es cantihute to the net assets or liabilities of the company on winding up such amounts as may be required

member to contribute to the net assets or liabilities of the company on winding up such amounts as may be required

not exceeding €1.27. The company was established under a Memorandum of Association which established theetbisder ite Articles of Assocation and managed by a
objects and powers of the charitable company and is governed under its Articles of Association and managed by a

Board of Directors. The company has been granted charitable status under section 207 and 208 of the Taxes

Consolidation Act 1997, charity No. CHY 14778.

The day-to-day affairs of the company are managed by its CEO (non-board member), Shana Cohen, and overseen by
its Board of Directors. TASC's constitution still serves the purpose for which TASC was established - as publicDirectors TASC's constitution still serves the purpose for which TASC was established - as public

education charity. A single change (of name) was made in 2018. The structure remains unchanged except for an
education chanty. A singie change (of hame) was made in 2016.e ise ln some areas
increase in the number of members of the Board. The composition of the Board provides expertise in some areas

(including legal expertise) and extemal advice/services is sought where the board cannot provide isub-committer
A number of specialist sub-committees assist with managing the affairs of the company. The sub-committees are

Research & Policy, Finance & Risk, Fundraising and Governance & Compliance. Directors are required to retire by
rotation based on length of service and are eligible for re-election.

The company held five board meetings during the year, the record ofattendance at board meetings by the Directors
and Secretary during the year is as follows:

Attendance at Board meetings

Officer Name Attendance
Mike Jennings
Mike Jennings (4/5)

(4/5)

Shana Cohen (5/5)

Mícheál Collins
Mhol Colline

(1/5)
Patricia Curtin-Kelly (3/5)

Proinsias De Rossa (3/5)

Ciaran O'MaraCiarán O'Mara (4/5
(4/5)

Michelle O'Sullivan (3/5
(5/5

Joe Saunders (5/5)
Elaine Stephen (4/5)
Donal Storrie (2/5)
Paul SweeneyPaul Sweeney (5/5)

Mathias Urban (4/5)

Jennifer Hughes
lenpifer Hughes (3/5)

)כ(

Bernard Harbor (5/5)

Keletso Malepe (4/5)

The company is a registered charity and the members of the Board of Directors, appointed under the Companies
Acts, operate on a pro bono basis. No remuneration was paid to any member of the boаboard.
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Review of Activities, Achievements and Performance
In 2024, despite several challenges, TASC successfully progressed each of these priorities. These challenges
included staff turnover, delays of report launches and funding, and the conclusion of several large grants for public
education projects.

At the same time, we also decided to pursue more long-term funding possibllities, which limited our capacity, on top of
staff turpover and reduced fundraising suoport to pursue shorter-tem proiects. The combination led to the deficit for
staff turnover and reduced fundraising support, to pursue shorter-term projects. The combination led to the delicit for
2024. Hopefully, however, we will be in a better position for funding and likewise, organizational stability, from 2025

onwards.

in terms of substantive work, we continued to publish policy reports, including our signature annual inequality report;
we franslated this research into public education proiects in social inclusion (financial resilience training) and climate

justice and laid the foundation for a participatory democracy public education project currently (in 2025) underway; we
justce euq ld te iaed ur networks with other civil society organisations.
developed progressive policy recommendations; expanded our networks with other civil soclety organisations,
business, and civil servants; and organised events and other activities that raise our profile and public awareness of

current policy challenges and potential responses.

Our work seeks to devise elfective responses to longstanding issues like poverty, health inequaiiesthe as more
decline of

democratic institutions and mechanisms for achieving political consensus, and climate change, as well as more
immediate crises, like the cost of living and energy poverty. We are also increasingly focused on how to improveincreasingycs
social mobility in an era when digitalisation and other factors are transforming labour markets. We recognise that
social stability and trust In the state and public institutions are fundamental to functioning economles and the capacity

of the state to respond effectively to immediate and longer-term challenges, like climate change.

In order to achieve greater economic equality, and with it, climate justice, social inclusion, and stronger democraticwit,ae nsas ouire creative far-reaching policy
institutions, policymakers, civil society organisations, unions and communities require creative, far-reaching policу
agendas and practical interventions. TASCagendas and practical interventions. TASC has contributed to both in Ireland and the EU for 24 years and is

committed to doing so for the future.

2024, we published a number of reports on critical policy issues, for example, a report with the Foundation of
in 2024, we publishedetne of Bravit for Northem treland: a report on how yound
European Progressive Studies (FEPS) on the implications of Brexit for Northem Ireland; a report on how young
people from disadvantaged backgrounds view democracy in Europe, also with FEPS; the impact of theof in
Auto-Enrolment pension scheme on women; and of course, our inequality report, which included a section on the
success of DEIS schools. Our research influenced pre-budget submissions and election manifestos amongst charities
success of DEIS schools. Our research influenced pre-budget submissions and election manifestos amongst chanties

and unions, as well as local climate action plans. Work continuing into 2025 included an analysis for the Irish Cancer
Soclety of mlgrant access to cancer services, an investigation for the Financial Services Union into the impact of Al on
Society of migrant access to cancer services, an investigation for the Financial Services Union into the impact of Al on

workers in financial services, and research on the effect of non-LGBTI+ peer support on mental health amongst
hon-Leer omearch for DRCD on

LGBTI+ young people for DCEDIY. In addition to this last project, we also conducted research for DRCD on

commissioning practices for services delivered by the Community and Voluntary Sector and an evaluation of the
three-year pilot Community Volunteer Programme (CVP).

As a public education charity, TASC does not have individual or organisational members. However, we do represent

stakeholders nationally through our partnerships in the areas mentioned above. As a public education charity, we
a

publish our work for free to ensure equal access for everyone. All our work can be accessed through our website. We
publish our work for free to ensure equar access overyoeus As such our work is
are politically Independent and don't receive any funding from political parties or groups. As such, our work is
respected by diverse audiences, including community-based and national organisations (e.g., Local Development
Companies and Safe Ireland), trade unions, academic researchers, individual activists, and advocacy groups (e.g.,
ust Transition Alliance

Just Transition Alliance).

In 2024, for example, we continued to partner with Ballyhoura Development, while also working with new partners like
Poppintree Youth Project. We are part of a large consorium that received Feacer lus e DRC
Poppintree Youth Project. We are part of a large consortium that received PeacePlus funding for a project on

geothermal energy along the border (Gemini). We are also working more with government bodies, like DRCD,
through commissioned work, as well as corporations, such as MSD.

In order to alleviate workload pressures and ensure the sustainability of TASC as an organisation, it is Imperative forTASC to attract core, unrestricted funding. Increasing the
TASC toatraclue of core donations remains a priority for the board, Executive Director, and fundraising manager fornumber and

the foreseeable future. Core funding thus remains a critical strategic objective for the organisato,a sthe foreseeable future. Core funding thus remains a critical strategic objective for the organisation, as well as

Increasing our policy impact and our partnerships with European and other international organisations, both of which
ofnding aonortunitiescontribute to funding opportunities

For now, the sustainability of the organisation depends on a mix of project work, which contributes to the majority of
our income, and core funding. Unrestricted funding, such as that provided by the Scheme to Support National
Organisations and the Department of Rural and Community Development, enables organisational growth by
supporting new projects and partnerships and increasing the scope and impact of the current education and training
programmes designed and delivered by TASC.



TASC Europe Studies CLG

DIRECTORS' ANNUAL REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Financial Review

2024 was a challenging year for TASC in terms of fundraising efforts. Total income of €795,584 was €46,874 less
2023 eigvan meinly he attributed to dopation income which totalled €92.038. a

than 2023 income. The reduction in income can mainly be attributed to donation income which totalled €92,038, a

reduction of €65,538 on 2023. Expenditure totalled €901,064 an increase of €29,842 on 2023. Staff related costs
01 207diture of

accounted for 70% (2023 68%) of total costs. The outcome for the year was a deficit of income over expenditure of

€104,480 resulting in accumulated funds of €512,816 at the end of the financial year.

Financial Results

At the end of the financial year the charity had gross assets of €671,594(2025-82had gross assets of €671,594 (2023 - €832,704) and gross liabilities of

€158,778 (2023 -€215,408). The net assets of the charity have decreased by €(104,480).

Financial Position
t olley

Investment Policy
The Directors policy is to preserve the value of its fund by placing surplus funds on deposit in a bank regulated by the
Central Bank of Ireland.

Reserves Position and Policy
The Board will ensure that TASC always maintains a cash in bank holding which is not less than €230k or if greater
an amount sufficient to discharge all obligations of the organisation, including proper and reasonable provision forango,anneare likely to he hreached the
staff, In the event of a winding up. In the event that this minimum cash amount appears likely to be breached, the
Board will be convened at an early date and will consider its response to the financial situation,Board will be convened at an early date and will consider its response to the financial situation, with a view to

appropriate actions, and the situation will be kept under close review by the Board until rectified.

Principal Risks and Uncertaintles

The sector in which the company operates continues to be challenging. The Directors have assessed the major risks
which can

to which the company is exposed, in particular those related to the operations and finances of the company.

The company mitigates these risks by continually monitoring the level ofactivities, prepares and monitors its budgets,
targets and projections. The company also has a cash reserves policy and closely monitors emerging changes to
reulations and legisiation on an ongolng basis
regulatlons and legislation on an ongoing basis.

Internal control risks are minimised by the implementation of financial policies and procedures which controls the
authorisation of all transactions and procedures.

With risks and uncertainties faced in mind, the Directors are aware that any plans for the future development of the
company may be subject to unforeseen future events outside of our control. The board recognises the need to
company ay esuae of thecmnan to nrovide for a sustainable futire
concentrate on the financial resources of the company to provide for a sustainable future.

Risk management
TASC is committed to continue to seek out new funding opportunities. Income diversity means that TASC'siTASC's income

stems from several sources, reducing risk and protecting against potential shocks and therefore ensuring the
long-term financial stability of our work on Equality.long-term financial stability of our work on Equality.

Future plans

TASC intends to continue to increase our engagement with policymakers, civill soclety organisations, and publIc
institutions, like the HSE, in Ireland and the EU. We will continue to work with the Coop, Safe Ireland, Ballyhoura
Development, Age Action, Irish Cancer Society, and The Wheel in 2025.

As mentioned above, TASC's independence is critical for its reputation, its direct and indirect impact on policy in
Ireland and the functioning of other community and national organisations across Ireland. Core funding will protect
ireland adtioftion actlvities as wall as ts ahility to sunnrt the services advocacy
TASC's independent research and public education activities as well as its ability to support the services, advocacy
efforts, and capacity of other charities working providing frontline services. Core funding will ensure that TASC's
independent and respected voice continues to represent vulnerable and marginalised groups in Ireland through
unprecedented times of global economic and political uncertainty, climate change, rising costs of living, and

entrenched inequality.



TASC Europe Studies CLG

DIRECTORS' ANNUAL REPORT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Directors and Secretary
The directors who served throughout the financial year, except as noted, were as follows:

Micheál Collins (Resigned 1 January 2025)
Proinsias De RossaProinsias De Rossa

Mike Jenningsжа еnings
Kelesto Malepe
Ciaran O'MaraClaran O'Mara
Michelle O'Sullivan
Donald Storie
Donald Storrie

Joe Saunders
Elaine Stephen (Resigned 1 January 2025)
Paul Sweeney
Paul Sweeney
Jennifer Hughes (Appointed 5 April 2024)
Patricia Curtin Kelly (Appointed 5 April 2024)
Mathias Urban
Pemard HarbourBernard Harbour

In accordance with the Constitution, the directors retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The secretary who served throughout the financial year was Shana Cohen.

Compliance with Sector-Wide Legislation and Standardsnd
The charity engages pro-actively with legislation, standards and codes which are developed for the sector. TASC
Europe Studies CLG subscribes to and is compliant with the following:

The Companies Act 2014
-

The Charities SORP (FRS 102)

Events Since the Year End
There have been no circumstances or events subsequent to the year end, which require adjustment to, or disclosure
in the financial statements

Exemptions from Disclosure
suaitad of

The company has not availed of any disclosure exemptions.

Funds held as Custodian Trustee on behalf of Others
s by way of custodian arrangement.The company does not hold any funds or assets by

Environmental Matters
The company will seek to minimise adverse impacts on the environment from its activities, whilst continuing to
address health, safety and economic issues. The company has complied with all applicable legislation and

eiomplled with all applicable legislation and
regulations.

The Auditors
The auditors, Whelan Dowling & Associates, (Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm) continue in office in
The auditorsisions of section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.accordance with the provisions of section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Statement on Relevant Audit Information

In accordance with section 330 of the Companies Act 2014, so far as each of the persons who are directors at the
time this report is approved are aware, there is  no relevant audit information of which the statutory auditors are

unaware. The directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevantunaware The directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and they have established that the statutory auditors are aware of that information.

Compliance Statement
The directors are responsible for securing the company's compliance with its relevant obligations (compliance with
both company and tax law) and with respect to each of the following three items, we confirm that it has/has not been
done. We confirm:

- the existence of a compllance policy statement
- appropriate arrangements or structures put in place to secure material compliance with the company's relevant
obligations:obligations;

- a review of such arrangements and structures has taken place during the financial year
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Accounting Records
To ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in accordance with Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act
2014, the directors have employed appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropnate
2014 the directors have emploved appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropriate

computerised accounting systems. The accounting records are located at the company's office at Ground Floor, 28compntensu2 02 AWaO
Merrion Square North, Dublin 2, D02 AW80.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Cr aane
Mike Jenning Ciaran O'Mara

Director Director
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with

the Companies Act 2014 and applicable regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting
directors have elected to prepare the acia snhy the Financial Reporting Council. Under company
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Under company
law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements Uniess they are saisilele and of the net
view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the charity as at the financial year end date and of the net
Income or expenditure of the charity for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistenty, and
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether the financial statements have been prepared In accordance with applicable accounting standards,
identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards; and
identily those standards, andnote the eetherm basis unless it  is inappropriate to presume that the charity
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it  is inappropriate to presume that the charity
will continue in operation.will continue in operation.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the charity keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records

which correctly explain and record the transacuons of the chanty, enable ayeable accuracy enable them to
which correctly explain and record the transactions of the charity, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial

position and net income or expenditure of the charity to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors' Annual Report comply with Companies Act 2014 and enable
ensure that the financlal statements and the Directors Annual Report comply with Compales t 20e
the financial statements to be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In so far as the directors are aware:

-there is no relevant audit information (information needed by the charity's auditor in connection with preparing the
suditore reoort) of which the charity's auditor is unaware, and
auditor's report) of which the chanty's auditor is unaware, and
the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the charity's auditor is aware of that information.the directors have taken n and to establish that the charity's auditor is aware of that information.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2025 and slgned on Its behalf by:

ile JonpMike Jennings
Director

Cinaun
Ciaran O'Mara

Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

to the Members of TASC Europe Studies CLG

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the charity financial statements of TASC Europe Studies CLG ('the Charity') for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities (incorporating an Income andanal statements
Expenditure Account), the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements,

including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has
including the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has

been applied in their preparation is Irish law and FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
been ae and Renorting hy Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable toRepublic of Ireland" and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to
charities preparing their accounts in accordance with FRS 102.

IIn our opinion the financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financlal position of the Charity as at 31 December 2024 and
of ite defcit for the fnancial vear then ended:
of its deficit for the financial year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland"; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and
we conducted our audit in actordance it t furthar desrhed helow in the Auditor's responsibilities
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described below in the Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of

financial statements in lad iti wa hava ulild ou ther ethical responsibilities in accordance with
financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish Auditing and

Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concerm

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concem basis of

accounting in the preparation of the financlal statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertaintles relating to events or
conditions that individually or collectively may cast significant doubt on the charity's ability to continue as a going
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the charity's ability to continue as a going
concerm for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in

the annual report, other than the financial statements and our Auditor's Report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
the annual repo, other tan te ti seteto the extent cthervise explicilly stated in our report we
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we

do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
ncbisistet s danhe such material Inconsisteneles or annarent material misstatements we are
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent matenial misstatements, we are

required to determine whether there is aa material misstatement in the financial statements or aa material misstatement

of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude thal there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
to the Members of TASC Europe Studies CLG

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
In our opinlon, based on the work undertaken in the course ofthe audit, we report that:
In our opinion, based on the work unds Renort is

the information given in the Directors' Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements;
the Directors' Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014; and
the Directors Annual Keport has been prepared in accroance to he readilN
the accounting records of the charity were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and property
audited and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

We have obtained all the Information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the charity were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readlly and
properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception n
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the charity and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we

have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors Annual Report. The Companies Act 2014 requires ushave not identifled any material misstatements in the Directors' Annual Report. The Companies Act 2014 requires us

to report to you if,  in our opinion, the disclosures of directors' remuneration and transactions required by sections 305
to repor to youit comlled with by the charity We have nothing to report in this regard.
to 312 of the Act are not complled with by the charity. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 10, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework that

give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the charity's ability to continue as a

going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concem basis of

accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative butaccounting unless they either intend to liguidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic altemative but

to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditors Report that includes our opinion.material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's Report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Reasonable assuranice is a high leveae s Misstataments can arise from fraud or eror

ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Further information regarding the scope of our responsibilities as auditor

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
scepticism throughout the aldit. we alsterial misstatemerIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient anddesign and perform audit procedures responsive to those hsks, and obtain audit evidence that is sci
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error. as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,is

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
charity's internal control

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concem basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
adoit evidace a,iioem If we onclude that a material uncertainty
significant doubt on the charity's ability to continue as a going concerm. If we conclude that a material uncertainty

exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditors Repo to the related disciosuresiexists. we are required to draw attention in our Auditor's Report to the related disclosures in the financial

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidenca obtained up to the date of our Auditor's Report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

charity to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content ofthe financial statements, including the dischdisclosures, and

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events ina manner that achieves fair
presentation

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we ideridentify

during our audit.

12



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

to the Members of TASC Europe Studies CLG

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the charity's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity's members those matters we are

required to state to them in an Auditor's Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity's members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Deon e
Wholan БСАSean Whelan FCA

for and on hehalf offor and on behalf of
WHELAN DOWLING & ASSOCIATES
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Block 1, Unit 1  & 4,

Northwood Court
Sante
Santry
Dublin 9

D09 E438

6 June 2025



TASC Europe Studies CLG

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(Incorporating an Income and Expenditure Account)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total
Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds Fundssoun

2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023
Notes € € e

Income

Donations and legacies 3.1 92,038 92,038 157,576 157,576
Charitable activitiesCharitable activities

- Income from charitable 3.2 617,861 86,490 704,351 600,714 85,168 685,882
activities

Other income 3.3 195 195

Total income 710,094 86,490 796,584 758,290 85,168 843,458

Expenditure

Raising funds 4.1 107,920 107,920 122,537 122,537

Charitable activities 42 706,654 86,490 793,144 663,517
663 517 85,168 748,685748 685

Total Expenditure 814,574 86,490 901,064 786,054 85,168 871,222

Net income/(expenditure) (104,480) (104,480) (27,764) (27,764)

Transfers between funds

Net movement in funds for (104,480) (104,480) (27,764) (27,764)
the financial year

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds beginning of the 13 617,296 617,296 645,060 645,060
year

Total funds at the end of 512,816 512,816 617,296 617,296
the year

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the financial year.
All income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.

The notes on pages 17 to 22 forrn part of the financial statements 14
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BALANCE SHEEТ
as at 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes €
Current Assets

DebtorsDebtors

Cash at bank and in hand
8 177,337 50,973
9 494,257 781,731

671,594 832,704

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 10 (158,778) (215,408)

Net Current Assets 512,816 617,296

Total Assets less Current Llabilities 512,816 617,296

Funds

General fund (unrestricted) 512,816 617,296

Total funds 13 512,816 617,296

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 6 June 2025 and signed on its behalf byD

Mike JenningsDirectorngsDirector

Ciamcoman
Claran O'Mara

Director

The notes on pages 17 to 22 form part of the financial statements 15



TASC Europe Studies CLG

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Net movement in fuupsNet movement in funds

Adjustments for:
Interest receivahleInterest receivable and similar income

Movements in working capital:
Movement in debtors

Movement in creditors

Cash used in operations

Cash flows from Investing activities
Interest received

Wnill

Notes

(104,480) (27,764)

(195)

(104,675) (27,764)

(126,364) 269269

(56,630) 20,992

(287,669) (6,503)

195

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(287,474) (6,503)
781,731 788,234788 234

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 494,257 781,731

न



TASC Europe Studies CLG

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024
fal

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

2.

TASC Europe Studies CLG is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in Ireland. The registered office of
te canty is Ground loor, 26 Memon Square North, Dublin 2, D02 AW80 which is also the principal place of
the charity is Ground Floor, 28 Merrion Square North, Dublin 2, D02 AW80 which is also the principal place of
business of the charity. The financial statements have been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional
currency of the charity.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered
material in relation to the charity's financial statements.

Statement of compliance
The financial
the going cotalements of the charity for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared on
the going concern basis and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP)
"Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Flpancial RepodindAccounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial ReportingStandard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland FRS 102".

Fund accounting
The following are the categories of funds maintained:
Restricted funds
Restricted funds represent income received which can only be used for particular purposes, as specified by
the donors. Such purposes are within the overall objectives of the charity.

Unrestricted funds

Unrestricted funds consist of General and Designated funds.

- General funds represent amounts which are expendable at the discretion of the board, in furtherance of the
objectives of the charity.epjectives of the chanty.

-Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that the board has, at its discretion, set aside for particular
purposes. These designations have an administralive purpose only, and do not legally restrict the board's
discretion to apply the fund.

Income

Income is recognised by inclusion in the Statement of Financial Activities only when the charity is legallyentitled to the ineome yio
entitled to the income, performance conditions attached to the item(s) of income have been met, the amounts
involved can be measured with sufficient reliability and it is probable that the income will be recelved by the
charity sufficient rellability and it is probable that the Income will be recelved by the
chanty.

Income from charitable activities

Income from charitable activities include income earned from the supply of services under contractual
arrangements and from performance related grants which have conditions that specify the provision of
padicular spemance related grants which have conditions that specify the provision of
particular services to be provided by the charity. Income from government and other co-funders is recognised
when the charity is legally entitled to the income because it is fulfilling the condillons containedt

hhanly is legally enttied to the income because it  is fulfilling the conditions contained in the related

creditors. Where entitlement occurs before income is recelved, it iss recognition is deferred and included in
funding agreements. Where a grant is received in advance, is  in

accrued in debtors.

Grants from governments and other co-funders typically include one of the following types of conditions:

- Performance based conditlons: whereby the charity is contractually
the core objectives of the grant agreement are achieved. Where ually entiled to tunding only to the extent thatthe core objectives of the grant agreement are achieved. Where the charity is meeting the core objectives of a
grant agreement, It recognises the related expenditure, to the extent that it is reimbursable by the donor, asincome.income

-Time based conditions: whereby the charity is contractually entitled to funding on the condition that it is
utilised in a particular period. In these cases the charity recognises the income to the extent it is utilised withinUtised in a particular penod, In these cases the chanty recognises the income to the extent it is utilised within
the period specified in the agreement.

In the absence of such conditions, assuming that receipt is probable and the amount can be rellably
measured, grant income is recognised once the chanty is notified of entitlement.

of

Grants received towards capital expenditure are credited to the Statement of Financial Activities when
received or receivable, whichever is earlier.

17



continued
TASC Europe Studies CLG

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Expenditure

Expenditure is analysed between costs ofcharitable activities and raising funds. The costs of each activity are
separately accumulated and disclosed, and analysed according to their major components. Expenditure is
recognised when a legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of a past event, a transfer of economic
benefits is required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be reliably measured Support costs
Denets is required in settiement and the amount of the obligation can be reliably measured. Support costs

are those functions that assist the work of the charity but cannot be attributed to one activity. Such costs areallocated to acttvitles in proportion to staff time spent or other sultable measure for each activiYallocated to activitles in proportion to staff time spent or other sultable measure for each activity.

Debtors
Debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any discount offered. Prepayments are valued at
the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. Income recognised by the charity from govemment
agencies and other co-funders, but not yet received at financial year end, is included in debtors.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand comprises cash on deposit at banks requiring less than three months nolice of
withdrawal.

Taxation

The company has received charitable status from the Revenue Commissioners and has charitable exemption
from taxation.

3. INCOME

3.1 DONATIONS AND LEGACIES Unrestrictednerntne Restricted 2024 2023

Funds Funds

€

Donations and legacies 92,038 92,038 157,576

3.2 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES Unrestricted
sicten Restricted 2024 2023
Funds Funds

€
Income from charitable activities and other co-funders:
EvetoшаEvent Income 21,139
Foundations and trusts 63,670

21,139
63,670

50,393

12.500

Project income
Proiect Income 508 052

250.005

508,052 508,052 497,821
Pobal SSNO 86,490 86.490 85,16885.168

Society of Holy Child Jesus 25,0005.000 25,000 25,000
St Stephens Green Trust 15,00015.000

617,861 86,490 704,351 685,882

3.3 OTHER INCOME Unrestricted Restricted 2024 2023

Funds Funds

Interest Received

4. EXPENDITURE
4.1 RAISING FUNDS Direct

Costs

195

Costsosts

Raising funds

195

Other Suppon 2024 2023

Costs

€ €

107,920 107,920 122,537

18



continued

TASC Europe Studies CLG
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

4.2 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES Direct Other Support 2024 2023

Costs Costs Costs
€ €

Expenditure on charitable activites 721,543 721,543 670,901

Govemance Costs (Note 4.3) 71.601 71.601'601 77.784

793,144 793,144 748,685

4.3 GOVERNANCE COSTS Direct Other Support 2024 2023
Costs Costs Costs

Auditors fees

Legal and professional fees

Accountancy and payroll
Star related costsStaff related costs

Office Overheads & Running Costs

5,535
525 525

5,535 5,535
5.872 5.872 9572710' 715'6

16,556 16,556 16,451

39,112
39 112 30 112

39,112 35,84235842

4,526 4,526 10,384

71,601 71,601 77,784

4.4 SUPPORT COSTS Cost of Charitable Governance 2024 2023
Palsind
Raising

Activitia
Activities Costs

Funds

€

Office Overheads & Running Costs 9,051 220,503 4,526 234,080 184,091

Governance CostsGovemance Costs 27092 21.550
27,963 27,963 31,558

Staff Related Costs 98,869 501,040 39,112 639,021 521,243

107,920 721,543 71,601 901,064 736,892

5. ANALYSIS OF SUPPORT COSTS

Basis of

Apportionment

Office Overheads & Running Costs Usage

Govermance Costs Usage
Staff Related Costs UsageUsage

2024 2023

234,080
27,963

184,091
31,558

639,021639 021

901,064

521,243

736,892

521 243
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TASC Europe Studies CLG

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

6. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

continued

Number of employees

The average number of persons employed (including executive directors) during the financial year was as
follows:

Management
Project/Administration

The staff costs comprise:

Wages and salaries
Socialsecudhcoste
Social secunty costs
Pension costs

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2024 2023

Numberumber Number

1 1
10 10

1111
11
11

2024 2023

558,557 521,243

61,477 56,831

18,986 18.496

639,020 596,570

The number of employees whose total employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) was greater
than €60,000 for the reporting period was as follows:

€80,000 -€90,000
€100,000+

2024 2023

Number of Number of

Employees Employees

8. DEBTORS 2024 2023

Prepayments 177,337 50,973

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2024 2023

Cash and bank balances 494,257 781,731

10. CREDITORS 2024 2023

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors 34,332 1,230
Taxation and social security costs 14,657 15,264
AccrualsAccruals 24,700

34,789 30,910

Deferred Income 75,000 168.004

158,778 215,408
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continued

TASC Europe Studies CLG

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nded 31for the financlal year ended 31 December 2024

11. STATE FUNDING

Agency

Government Department

Grant Programme
Purpose of the Grant

Department of Rural and Community Development

Pobal

Scheme to Support Natlonal Organisations

To fund a full time Director and part time Office

AdministratorAdministrator alongalong withwith aa contributioncontribution toto nonnon salarysalary costs
and overhead costs. The 2 roles will contribute to

improved quality and availability of services and supportsimproved quality and availability of services and supports

offered, particularly to those experiencing poverty andblered, panticulany to those expenencing povery a
social exclusion; improved education and training
programmes/supports designed and delivered,programmes/supports designed and delivered.

particularly in the area of promoting equality; and

increased organisation profile and awareness of available
supports/services.

01/07/2022 until 30/06/2025

€256,526

Term

Total Fund

Expenditure €85,168

Fund deferred or due at financial year end ENil

Received in the financial year €85,168

12.

13.

13.1

Capital Grant

Restriction on use

RESERVES

At the beginning of the year
Deficit for the financial year

At the end of the year

FUNDS
RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

At 1 January 2023

Movement during the financial year

At 31 December 2023

Movement during the financial year

At 31 December 2024

No

Restricted in line with Grant Agreement

2024 2023

617,296 645,060
(104,480) (27,764)

512,816 617,296

Unrestricted Total

Funds Funds

645,060 645,060

(27,764) (27,764)

617,296 617,296

(104,480) (104,480)

512,816 512,816
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TASC Europe Studies CLG

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024

13.2 ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENTS ON FUNDS

continued

Balance Income Expenditure Transfers Balance
1 January1 January between 31 December31 Dacemhar

2024 funds 20242024

Restricted 86,490 86,490
Unrestricted funUnrestricted funds

Unrestricted General 617,296 710,094 814,574

Total funds 617,296 796,584 901,064

512,816

512,816

13.3 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BY FUND

Unrestricted general funds

Current Current Total
assets llabilties

€

a

671,594 (158,778) 512,816

671,594 (158,778) 512,816

14.

15.

16.

STATUS

The charity is limited by guarantee not having a share capital.

The liability of the members is limited.

Every member of the company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of its being

liabilities of the company contracted bere the caanciayea thereaner, for the payment of the depts and
wound up while they are members, or within one financial year thereafter, for the payment of the debts and
liabilitles of the company contracted before they ceased to be members, and the costs, charges and expenses
of winding up, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves, such amount as mayp ad othe ajustment
be required, not exceeding € 1.27.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
There were no related party transactions with the directors during the period.

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

There have been no significant events affecting the Charity since the financial year-end.

17. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2025.
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